## Direct Air Capture as a Carbon Removal Solution: Analyzing Scale-Up, Cost Reduction, and Pathways for Acceleration

by

Brooke B. DiMartino

B.S. Petroleum Engineering, West Virginia University, 2013

Submitted to the System Design and Management Program in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

#### MASTER OF SCIENCE IN ENGINEERING AND MANAGEMENT

at the

#### MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

September 2023

© 2023 Brooke B. DiMartino. All rights reserved.

The author hereby grants to MIT a nonexclusive, worldwide, irrevocable, royalty-free license to exercise any and all rights under copyright, including to reproduce, preserve, distribute and publicly display copies of the thesis, or release the thesis under an open-access license.

Authored by:	Brooke B. DiMartino System Design and Management Program August 11, 2023
Certified by:	Dr. Bruce G. Cameron Director, System Architecture Group, Thesis Supervisor
Accepted by:	Joan S. Rubin Executive Director, System Design and Management Program

### Direct Air Capture as a Carbon Removal Solution: Analyzing Scale-Up, Cost Reduction, and Pathways for Acceleration

by

#### Brooke B. DiMartino

Submitted to the System Design and Management Program on August 11, 2023 in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

#### MASTER OF SCIENCE IN ENGINEERING AND MANAGEMENT

#### ABSTRACT

In addition to drastic reductions in global carbon dioxide emissions, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change has stated with high confidence in the most recent Assessment Report that carbon dioxide removal will be needed in order to meet the Paris Agreement temperature goals. Direct air capture is a novel carbon dioxide removal technique that is gaining attention for its potential contribution to the carbon removal portfolio of solutions. As its primary barrier to deployment is high costs, there is a focus within the academic and climate community to understand how this technology could reach lower costs by mid-century.

This thesis investigates potential scale-up and cost-reduction pathways for existing direct air capture methods using technological change theory. The literature review provides context for carbon dioxide removal techniques, direct air capture, and technological change theory. Analogous technologies are reviewed for cost-reduction drivers and compared against the common direct air capture methods. This comparison is used for learning and improvement rate analysis to estimate cost reductions for mature direct air capture methods, then used for identification of levers players in the direct air capture market ecosystem can deploy to accelerate scale-up and cost reductions.

The results suggest solid sorbent direct air capture methods could achieve costs of 100-100/100, by 2050, while liquid solvent methods may reach 100-20/100, and the same time period. The results of the analog analysis emphasize the importance of a variety of direct air capture stakeholders in accelerating the technology's scale-up and cost reductions. Policymakers can provide impact by developing standards for MRV and accounting for carbon dioxide removal techniques. The private sector can set clear requirements for carbon removal purchases, focused on purchasing proven, durable, measurable methods that can provide clear paths for cost reductions. Finally, direct air capture providers can focus on early design choices that enable these cost reductions and work as a community toward building economies of scale in manufacturing. The findings indicate that the technology may reach cost-competitive thresholds by mid-century and that stakeholders across the direct air capture ecosystem have opportunities to accelerate this transition.

Thesis supervisor: Dr. Bruce G. Cameron Title: Director, System Architecture Group

# Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I am eternally grateful to my husband, Jacob, for his endless support throughout the duration of this program. His unwavering patience as I worked long nights, kind words of encouragement in overwhelming moments, and overall willingness to upend our life to move across the country for a year is something for which I cannot express my depth of gratitude. Thank you so much for going on this adventure with me, Jacob.

I am deeply grateful to my thesis advisor, Dr. Bruce Cameron, for his keen insights and patient guidance throughout my thesis journey. Thank you for your willingness to advise a student interested in a topic outside of your primary area of research and for your openness to new ideas along the way. You constantly provided insightful feedback and discussion that I truly valued.

I extend my heartfelt gratitude to my parents and my sister, Elizabeth, for the many phone calls of support through the highs and lows of this research. I am indebted to my friends who were always willing to learn more than they ever wanted to know about direct air capture. I also must extend a special thank you to my dog, Luna, whose endless enthusiasm for walks kept me active and grounded throughout my time at MIT. Your unconditional love and happiness to see me every day is a constant source of joy that was much appreciated during such an intense year.

I would also like to acknowledge and extend my thanks to the larger MIT community that has supported me through this experience. I am sincerely grateful to Donna Rhodes for her expert guidance in the fall thesis seminars, to Professor Jing Li for introducing me to the world of carbon dioxide removal and the creative ways companies are working to advance the market, and to Chris Featherman at the MIT WCC for the help he provided with regards to the framing and fine-tuning of my writing.

Finally, I would like to thank Chevron for sponsoring my participation in the System Design and Management program at MIT. I am particularly grateful for the support Alex Castellini, Michelle Pflueger, and Garrett Luig provided during my time in Cambridge, who all helped maintain my sense of connection to the company and my career while I was away. I would also like to extend my thanks to Danielle Carpenter, Mauricio Villegas, and Wes Clark for their support and encouragement as I was applying to participate in the program.

As I reflect on this year-long journey, I am still in awe that I had the opportunity to participate in this program and the support from everyone recognized here to reach its conclusion. I look forward to incorporating all that I have learned throughout my time at MIT into my career moving forward.

# Contents

T	itle p	age	1
A	bstra	ct	3
A	cknov	vledgments	<b>5</b>
Li	ist of	Figures	9
Li	ist of	Tables	11
Li	ist of	Acronyms	13
1	Intr	oduction	15
	1.1	Motivation	15
	1.2	Background	16
	1.3	Objectives	17
	1.4	Outline	17
<b>2</b>	Lite	rature Review	19
	2.1	Carbon Dioxide Removal	19
		2.1.1 Nomenclature	21
		2.1.2 Conventional techniques	22
		2.1.3 Novel techniques	23
	2.2	Direct Air Capture	23
		2.2.1 DAC Methods	24
		2.2.2 Storage vs. Utilization	28
		2.2.3 Barriers to Implementation	28
		2.2.4 Larger DAC Market Ecosystem	29
		2.2.5 Cost Reduction Predictions	31
	2.3	Technological Progress Estimation	32
		2.3.1 Learning Rates	32
		2.3.2 Improvement Rates	34
		2.3.3 Multi-Factor Approaches	34
		2.3.4 Application to Direct Air Capture	35

3	Met	thod and Framework	<b>37</b>	
	3.1	Problem Formulation	37	
		3.1.1 DAC Methods Considered for This Assessment	37	
		3.1.2 Framing of DAC Analog Analysis	38	
		3.1.3 Framing of DAC System Decomposition Analysis	38	
	3.2	Inputs for Analysis	39	
		3.2.1 Initial Cost Estimates	39	
		3.2.2 DAC Experience Growth	40	
		3.2.3 DAC System Decomposition	42	
		3.2.4 Analogs and Key Drivers for Technological Change	44	
4	Res	sults	52	
	4.1	DAC Analog Analysis	52	
	4.2	DAC Cost Reduction Rate Analysis	55	
		4.2.1 Single-Factor Analysis Results	55	
		4.2.2 Component-Based Analysis Results	55	
		4.2.3 Base Results Comparison by DAC Method	58	
	4.3	Sensitivities	59	
		4.3.1 Sensitivity to DAC Scale-Up Scenarios	59	
		4.3.2 Sensitivity to Learning and Improvement Rate Ranges	60	
		4.3.3 Summary	61	
5	Dis	cussion of Results	65	
	5.1	Cost Reduction Analysis	65	
		5.1.1 S-DAC	67	
		5.1.2 L-DAC	68	
	5.2	Implications of Architectural Decisions on Cost Reduction Behavior	68	
	5.3	Public and Private Sector Influence	70	
	5.4	Acceleration Considerations for Key Stakeholders	71	
		5.4.1 DAC Providers	71	
		5.4.2 DAC Buyers	72	
		5.4.3 Governments and Policymakers	72	
	5.5	Generalization of Results	73	
	5.6	Limitations of This Study	74	
6	Cor	nclusions and Future Work	75	
Α	Dec	composition Analysis Details	77	
Re	References 81			

# List of Figures

2.1	Examples of negative emission technologies and their classification within the CDR ecosystem	91
$2.2 \\ 2.3$	High-level process that direct air capture methods generally follow Summary of direct air capture methods currently being pursued	23 $25$
$3.1 \\ 3.2$	Plot of DAC capacity scale-up scenarios considered	41
3.3	nologies and Reliable Sequestration 3-Mid Cost Scenario	43 43
4.1	Comparison of cost reduction estimates using single-factor learning rates across all analogs considered for S-DAC and L-DAC (excluding nuclear)	54
4.2	Comparison of cost reduction estimates using single-factor learning rates ver- sus improvement rates for S-DAC and L-DAC	56
4.3	Comparison of cost reduction estimates using component learning rates versus improvement rates for S-DAC and L-DAC	56
1 1	Cost breakdown by components for S-DAC learning rate component analysis	57
1.1 1.5	Cost breakdown by components for L-DAC learning rate component analysis	57
4.6	Comparison of cost reduction estimates for S-DAC using base case assump-	50
4.7	Comparison of cost reduction estimates for L-DAC using base case assump-	58
	tions across all analysis approaches	59
4.8	Impact of alternate S-DAC experience growth rates on cost decline compared	
4.0	to base single-factor learning rate result	60
4.9	Impact of alternate L-DAC experience growth rates on cost decline compared	61
1 10	Impact of varying S-DAC analog (solar) learning and improvement rates across	01
4.10	range from literature	62
4.11	Impact of varying L-DAC analog (natural gas plants) learning and improve-	-0
	ment rates across range from literature	62
4.12	Summary plot showing the range of sensitivity to scale-up rate for both DAC	
	methods	63
4.13	Summary plot showing the range of sensitivity to analog rate utilized for both	<u> </u>
	DAC methods	63

A.1	Cost breakdown at the component level for S-DAC learning rate component	
	analysis	78
A.2	Cost breakdown at the component level for S-DAC improvement rate compo-	
	nent analysis	78
A.3	Cost breakdown at the component level for L-DAC learning rate component	
	analysis	79
A.4	Cost breakdown at the component level for L-DAC improvement rate compo-	
	nent analysis	80

# List of Tables

2.1	Examples of currently active DAC companies	26
$3.1 \\ 3.2$	DAC capacity scale-up scenarios considered	41 44
3.3	Summarized table of solar PV characteristics that enabled scale-up, as de- scribed by Nemet (2019)	46
$3.4 \\ 3.5$	Summarized table of wind characteristics that enabled cost reductions Summarized table of natural gas characteristics that drove cost trends through	47
3.6	study timeframe	49 49
3.7	Summarized table of nuclear power plant characteristics that contributed to negative learning rates	51
$4.1 \\ 4.2$	Summary of full analog analysis for DAC $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ Summary of base cost reduction results, showing when $200/tCO_2$ and $45Q$	53
	threshold are reached	58
4.3	Range of learning and improvement rates used for sensitivity analysis	60
4.4	Variance of sensitivity sets to single-factor base case	63
4.5	Summary of all cost reduction results, including sensitivities	64
A.1 A.2	Learning and improvement rates used for S-DAC component analysis Learning and improvement rates used for L-DAC component analysis	77 79

# List of Acronyms

AMCs	Advance Market Commitments
BECCS	Bioenergy with Carbon Capture and Storage
CAPEX	Capital Expense
CCGT	Combined Cycle Gas Turbine
$\rm CO_2$	Carbon Dioxide
CDR	Carbon Dioxide Removal
DAC	Direct Air Capture
DACCS	Direct Air Carbon Capture with Storage
ERW	Enhanced Rock Weathering
ESA-DAC	Electro-Swing Adsorption Direct Air Capture
FOAK	First of a Kind
GHG	Greenhouse Gas
GTCC	Gas Turbine Combined Cycle
IAM	Integrated Assessment Model
IEA	International Energy Agency
IIJA	Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
IRA	Inflation Reduction Act
L-DAC	Liquid Absorbent Direct Air Capture
LR	Learning Rate
m-DAC	Membrane-Based Direct Air Capture
MRV	Monitoring, Reporting, and Verification
MSA	Moisture Swing Adsorption
NET	Negative Emission Technology
NGCC	Natural Gas Combined Cycle
OPEX	Operating Expense
PSC	Point Source Capture
PV	Photovoltaic
S-DAC	Solid Adsorbent Direct Air Capture
TSA	Temperature Swing Adsorption
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VSA	Vacuum Swing Adsorption

# Chapter 1 Introduction

## 1.1 Motivation

Over the last several years, there has been an increasing consensus within the scientific community that in order to meet the goal of holding below a change of  $1.5-2^{\circ}C$  compared to pre-industrial levels, directly removing carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) from the atmosphere and permanently storing it will be necessary [46], [49], [53], [96]. While ongoing efforts to abruptly lower our current emission levels will remain the critical focus for achieving these objectives, accelerating the understanding and commercialization of carbon removal options must be accomplished in parallel. The UN Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)'s Sixth Assessment Report section released in April 2022 states, "Pathways that limit warming to  $2^{\circ}C$  (>67%) or lower involve some amount of CDR to compensate for residual greenhouse gas emissions remaining after substantial direct emissions reductions in all sectors and regions (high confidence)" [53].

The techniques of directly removing carbon dioxide from the atmosphere are generally referred to as Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR) techniques. These range from more conventional techniques that are land-based and immediately available, such as afforestation and reforestation, to novel techniques that utilize a variety of approaches to store carbon<sup>1</sup> geologically, in the ocean, or in products. The majority of these novel techniques are still in development or in the very early stages of implementation [96]. Examples include direct air capture (DAC) with carbon capture and storage (DACCS), enhanced rock weathering (ERW), and bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS).

According to the 2023 report "The Current State of Carbon Dioxide Removal", the CDR activities in operation today remove approximately 2  $GtCO_2$  per year, almost all from conventional techniques focused on land management [96]. In contrast, only approximately 0.002  $GtCO_2$  per year of removal comes from novel techniques at present [96]. Considering the IPCC's estimate of needing 2.8 (0.5-11 range)  $GtCO_2$  per year of non-conventional removal in 1.5°C scenarios by 2050, there is considerable scaling that needs to be accomplished over the next 25 years [53].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For ease of reading, "carbon" will be used interchangeably with " $CO_2$ " and "carbon dioxide" throughout this thesis.

### 1.2 Background

While a large portfolio of CDR techniques will likely be needed, a significant portion of future removal is expected to come from novel techniques. Many of these techniques have lower land-use requirements than conventional techniques, as well as more options for higher storage durability [96]. DAC is a novel technique in particular that has gained significant attention in both industry and the public sector recently, largely due to its clarity in measurement and verification of the amount of carbon removed and stored compared to other techniques [44].

Unfortunately, DAC does come with complex challenges. Unlike the more traditional point source capture used in industrial plants to capture  $CO_2$  in post-combustion processes where concentrations may range from 3%-30%, DAC captures carbon from ambient air where concentrations are closer to 0.041% [36]. This means that it has to process vast amounts of ambient air to capture worthwhile amounts of carbon to store. Another key challenge is the amount of energy that is needed to facilitate this process, made even more difficult if it must be clean energy to avoid additional carbon emissions. These two challenges lead to the largest overarching challenge for this technology: cost.

Despite these challenges, Climeworks became the first company to sell third-party certified CDR services to several corporate clients, including Microsoft, Shopify, and Stripe, through their DAC technology in January 2023 through a partnership with Carbfix to geologically sequester the captured carbon [7]. The U.S. Government has also shown keen interest in supporting this technology development through recent legislation. The 2021 Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act committed over \$3.5 billion in funding for the development of four regional DAC hubs across the country, with varying levels of support to be rewarded depending on the phase of development (feasibility, design, or build) [68]. The 2022 Inflation Reduction Act also substantially increased the 45Q tax credit support for DAC, going from \$50/tonne of CO<sub>2</sub> with DAC to \$180/tonne with geologic storage from DAC and to \$130/tonne with utilization from DAC [44].

Similar to how CDR techniques can be broken down into multiple types of removal, DAC can be decomposed into many different methods of capture. The two most common methods are using solid adsorbents (S-DAC) and using liquid aqueous basic solutions (L-DAC), both of which are energy intensive [46]. However, many additional emerging methods try to address the issue of high-energy use through novel methods such as electro-swing processes and moisture swing adsorption [76]. These are much earlier in development but could provide future scalable optionality.

For technology this early in development, it is important to consider how and when it will transition from prototype and demonstration to commerciality. In the report "Accelerating the Low Carbon Transition", Victor et al. describe three key phases in any system transition: emergence, diffusion, and reconfiguration. The emergence phase is characterized by the formation of many niches for a new technology, where buyers in the niches are willing to pay much more for the technology than the average buyer, unique use cases are identified, and experimentation and learning are prevalent. This is where DAC currently lies as it starts to find niche markets like early government investment and private sector funding. Movement to the diffusion stage may occur if costs can be lowered through additional innovation, higher technical performance emerges, and functional requirements are better defined. [104]

## 1.3 Objectives

As with any creation of a new market, scaling up CDR will take time and is bound to encounter various complex challenges along the way. In the case of direct air capture, successful deployment is tightly linked to its ability to come down the cost curve swiftly. This thesis aims to shed light on this process by addressing the following essential questions, seeking to unravel the potential trajectory of these cost reductions:

- 1. The IPCC estimates needing 2.8 (0.5-11 range)  $GtCO_2/yr$  of non-conventional carbon removal by 2050, but current removal rates are well below this. If DAC adoption and cost reduction behave similarly to solar PV or other analogous technologies, what contribution can it realistically expect to make to the CO<sub>2</sub> removal portfolio?
  - (a) How might scale-up rate and cost reduction vary by DAC method?
  - (b) What does the literature identify as the key drivers for analogous technology learning and improvement, and how do those compare to the various DAC methods?
  - (c) What role are the public and private sectors currently playing in advancing the DAC market, and how does this compare to analogs?
- 2. Based on the answers to Question 1, what actions could be taken in the near term regarding DAC by governments, DAC providers, and DAC purchasers to help accelerate the reduction of DAC costs?

## 1.4 Outline

To facilitate the investigation of the research questions in Section 1.3, this thesis is structured as follows:

- Literature Review: Chapter 2 provides an overview of the current direct air capture landscape as relevant to this thesis. It begins with context around CDR and how DAC fits into the emerging CDR portfolio. It then zooms in directly to DAC, describing how it works, key barriers to implementation, and its current and forecasted ecosystem. Finally, a review of the literature regarding technological learning and improvement provides a framework for exploring the potential cost-reduction pathways of DAC.
- Method and Framework: Chapter 3 begins by framing the methods that are used for the analysis. It then collects and documents key assumptions and inputs utilized by the analysis.
- **Results**: Chapter 4 reports the results of the analysis. It begins with the analog assessment results for each DAC technique, then provides the results of the cost reduction studies. It concludes with sensitivities to help give context to the range of potential outcomes.

- **Discussion**: Chapter 5 describes the insights gained from the analysis results through the lens of the research questions. Based on those insights, actions that stakeholders within the DAC industry may take to accelerate cost reductions are proposed.
- **Conclusions**: Chapter 6 provides conclusions and recommendations for governments, DAC providers, and DAC purchasers to help accelerate the reduction of DAC costs given the results of the analysis. It also lays out recommendations for future studies in this field.

# Chapter 2

# Literature Review

Context around three key concepts is important background information to understand for this thesis. These include types of and need for carbon dioxide removal; understanding of direct air capture and its ecosystem; and the theory of technological change. This chapter provides the context for each concept and helps bring the reader up to speed on the research landscape relevant to the analysis.

### 2.1 Carbon Dioxide Removal

Historical anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions, particularly over the past century, have caused a gradual increase in the earth's average temperature [50]. The annual carbon dioxide equivalent emissions at a global level have almost reached 40 GtCO<sub>2</sub>/yr as of 2022 [43]. "Natural" land and ocean sinks can absorb about one-half of this emission rate, but after years of emissions exceeding sink capacity, an overall increase in atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentration of approximately 125ppm over the last 150 years has been observed [80]. A focused international effort is underway to lower these emissions to curb this warming and the effects it is having on the planet.

In 2015, 195 of 198 parties within the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) signed the Paris Agreement [102]. This agreement was a strong recognition of climate change and the first major binding agreement across this many countries to take action to address it [103]. The agreement includes the following objective, which will hereto be referred to as the Paris Temperature Goal within this thesis:

"Holding the increase in the global average temperature to well below  $2^{\circ}C$ above preindustrial levels and pursuing efforts to limit the temperature increase to  $1.5^{\circ}C$  above pre-industrial levels."

This temperature goal remains the point of reference for most modeling efforts from the major climate change bodies. While it does not specify a timeframe in which to accomplish the goal, using the phrase "holding below" indicates the intent is to avoid overshooting this temperature at any point in the future.

It is recognized that in order to meet the Paris Temperature Goal, carbon dioxide emissions will need to be significantly reduced worldwide. The techniques associated with these emission reductions are commonly referred to as climate mitigation options, which can include options like replacing fossil fuel use with renewable energy, increasing the energy efficiency of existing systems, or capturing carbon emitted when burning fossil fuels before it is released into the atmosphere [53]. These strong reductions in emissions are critical to combating climate change and should occur as rapidly as possible using a portfolio of mitigation techniques.

One additional mitigation technique that is emerging as a key contributor to climate change efforts is Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR). Climate mitigation scenarios that included CDR were first included in the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's (IPCC) Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) modeling, but have grown quickly in number since [52] [51] [77]. In the most recent assessment report, AR6, the IPCC stated with strong confidence that CDR will be needed alongside steep emission reductions to meet the Paris Temperature Goal [53] [50]. They define CDR as "Anthropogenic activities removing carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) from the atmosphere and durably storing it in geological, terrestrial, or ocean reservoirs, or in products".

Smith et al. in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* further define CDR using three core principles [96]:

- Principle 1: The CO<sub>2</sub> captured must come from the atmosphere, not from fossil sources. The removal activity may capture atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> directly or indirectly, for instance via biomass or seawater.
- Principle 2: The subsequent storage must be durable, such that  $CO_2$  is not soon reintroduced to the atmosphere.
- Principle 3: The removal must be a result of human intervention, additional to Earth's natural processes.

These principles are useful in creating distinctions between CDR and other climate change mitigation actions. Principle 1 helps distinguish CDR from point-source carbon capture (PSC), which focuses on capturing CO<sub>2</sub> at industrial plants that burn fossil fuels. Principle 2 helps differentiate CDR from other short-term carbon removal actions more akin to recycling CO<sub>2</sub>, like the use of synthetic fuels made from emitted CO<sub>2</sub> that would immediately be released back into the atmosphere upon use. Principle 3 clarifies that only actions that add additional removal of CO<sub>2</sub> count as CDR. Some argue that CDR should even be labeled completely separately from mitigation techniques in the categorization of climate actions to help with these distinctions, but there is not clear consensus in the literature on this [77].

While it is not a reasonable substitute for deep emission reductions across the globe, CDR can fulfill several roles within the climate change mitigation ecosystem. In the near term, it can help reduce net emissions by offseting emissions as sectors ramp up activities to perform these critical deep reductions. Mid-term, it can help offset emissions from the hard-to-abate sectors, particularly those that have a higher cost for emission reduction than CDR emission offsets to reach global net zero. Long-term, this segment could potentially provide net negative emissions, such that the global net emissions are below zero and can offset historical emission accumulation. [53]



Figure 2.1: Examples of negative emission technologies and their classification within the CDR ecosystem

The technologies associated with CDR are often referred to as Negative Emission Technologies (NETs). There are many different NETs being pursued, ranging from more conventional techniques like afforestation and reforestation to novel techniques like BECCS and DACCS [37]. Figure 2.1 shows some of the most common NET categories for reference. The number of NETs is rapidly growing as this new industry begins to take shape [96]. It is important to recognize that at this time there is no silver bullet approach as each technique has considerable benefits and challenges; instead, a wide portfolio of NETs will be needed to reach the scale of removal needed to support the Paris Temperature Goal [77].

Two critical aspects of CDR when comparing across techniques are (1) the durability of the  $CO_2$  storage and (2) the reliability of monitoring, reporting, and verification (MRV). The scale of durability might range from a few years to hundreds or thousands of years depending on the technique pursued. MRV quality also varies drastically across techniques, but will ultimately be the mechanism for validating if an action should count towards carbon offset or removal goals. The need for MRV governance across techniques has specifically been cited as the most critical need for CDR policy by Smith et al. in the 2023 State of CDR report. [96]

#### 2.1.1 Nomenclature

Due to the large number of CDR techniques under investigation, determining a consistent classification system is helpful. Even within the climate community, however, there is still varying nomenclature used to describe these various groupings of CDR techniques. The Carbon Business Council and over 100 carbon removal experts sent an open letter to the UNFCCC as recently as May 2023 in an attempt to clarify language regarding CDR within an Information Note released by the organization. Within the note, the label "engineering

based activities" was applied to several CDR techniques discussed. The letter recommended avoiding this distinction as most CDR techniques are varying degrees of nature and engineering. [14]

Early literature in the CDR domain often defines subclasses as "nature-based" versus "engineered" or "industrial-based" solutions, similar to the nomenclature used by the UN-FCCC above. However, caution has been raised against using this classification system since most techniques incorporate some combination of nature and engineering. Some argue that all CDR techniques should just be referred to by their characteristics rather than introducing an intermediate classification system [15]. Others have proposed using the classification system of "conventional" versus "novel" to avoid this conflict [96]. This is a helpful distinction in that it helps clarify between solutions that are very mature and deployed at large scale versus ones that are emerging more recently as the world works to find new ways to combat climate change.

#### 2.1.2 Conventional techniques

Conventional techniques of  $CO_2$  removal make up about 98% of the 2 GtCO<sub>2</sub>/yr of removals currently in existence [96]. All of these techniques are land-based, and include some of the most well-known and heavily researched removal techniques, like afforestation and reforestation [77]. Other land use and management practices also fall into this category, such as general forest management, restoration of peatland and wetlands (also referred to as coastal blue carbon), soil carbon practices, and agroforestry.

A clear benefit of most conventional techniques is that they are relatively inexpensive compared to novel techniques [77]. Another is that they are generally familiar to the public with an overall positive perception, especially for afforestation and reforestation [96]. The majority of these techniques rely on managing how society uses land and restores specific plant species. They are generally well-understood and many are ready for immediate implementation.

One of the main limiting factors in scaling up these conventional techniques is the value of additional carbon removal versus utilizing that same land for food production. This limitation prevents conventional techniques from being able to scale to a level that can fully cover the level of need for carbon removal. Despite this, it is still expected to make a significant contribution to the CDR portfolio, particularly in the short term as novel techniques scale up. All types of novel techniques are not immune to this same concern regarding land use, but conventional techniques are particularly vulnerable to this sustainability challenge at a certain level of use. [80]

Other challenges with conventional CDR include MRV and durability. Many of these techniques are particularly susceptible to storage reversal if not maintained properly long-term [77]. An example of this would be a tree that is cut down after credit has been taken for  $CO_2$  removal. While there is a large range of reliability across the spectrum of conventional techniques, some have significant challenges with regard to MRV based on current understanding and require additional research [96]. Despite these challenges, these conventional CDR techniques can be very valuable in the short term as more novel, long-duration removal options are scaled up.



Figure 2.2: High-level process that direct air capture methods generally follow

#### 2.1.3 Novel techniques

Novel CDR encompasses the remainder of techniques being investigated for carbon removal. These techniques currently contribute very little to annual  $CO_2$  removal rates, at about 0.002 GtCO<sub>2</sub>/yr. It is expected that these techniques will constitute a much larger percentage of the CDR portfolio in the future, as many of these techniques are less constrained by land use than conventional techniques. Examples of techniques that fall into this category include bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS), enhanced rock weathering, biochar, ocean alkalinization, and direct air capture (DAC). [96]

Due to the large amount of variability of techniques within the Novel CDR group, there are few overarching benefits and challenges that apply to all in the group. In general, many of these techniques have more clear approaches to MRV when compared to Convention CDR, but not all. Many also offer more long-term durability through underground  $CO_2$  storage and mineralization. However, many are not yet ready to be deployed commercially, whether due to high capital costs or the need for additional study. [80]

## 2.2 Direct Air Capture

Direct air capture is emerging as a CDR technique of particular interest for many companies and CDR buyers [98]. It encompasses a variety of methods that use chemical reactions to pull  $CO_2$  out of the atmosphere that can then be utilized or stored, depending on the application. Since almost half of annual  $CO_2$  emissions are from distributed sources [1], this ability to remove  $CO_2$  from ambient air is particularly appealing to many.

In its most general form, this CDR technique involves pulling ambient air into the DAC system, putting that air in contact with a solvent to draw down the  $CO_2$ , releasing the  $CO_2$  through a process called regeneration, then compressing and preparing the concentrated  $CO_2$  for transportation to where it will be stored [36]. This process can be visualized in Figure 2.2. Despite this common overall process, many different methods of DAC are being pursued today by varying solvent types and regeneration processes.

Since land use is one of the key restrictions to many other CDR techniques, it can be helpful to understand DAC's use in comparison. The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine estimate that a 1 MtCO<sub>2</sub>/yr DAC system removes the same amount of CO<sub>2</sub> on an annual basis as approximately 20 million trees spanning about 100,000 acres [80]. They estimate an average DAC plant of this size at a 65-75% capture rate may require about 6-425 acres of land for the actual plants depending on the configuration, plus an estimated additional 550-25,500 acres for indirect land use and power generation. This land use varies considerably based on the DAC method used and the power source, but more study is needed to understand the realistic range better.

Because they both involve using solvents to extract  $CO_2$  from air, direct air capture and point source capture (PSC) are often confused with one another. However, they differ in a critical way: DAC pulls  $CO_2$  out of ambient air, while PSC captures  $CO_2$  from a specific industrial facility or plant that combusts fossil fuels for energy [8]. This means that DAC can be used as a carbon-negative technology, while PSC can only ever be carbon-neutral at its best [87]. PSC is therefore part of the climate change mitigation portfolio but is not considered a carbon removal technique.

One additional key difference between the two carbon capture techniques is the concentration of  $CO_2$  in the air processed by each system. Depending on the type of power plant or industrial facility the PSC is paired with,  $CO_2$  concentrations range between 3-30%. Alternatively, ambient air that DAC processes target contains just 0.041%  $CO_2$ . This means that DAC systems must process significantly more air than PSC systems to remove the same amount of carbon, which can lead to more energy needs and higher costs. [36]

#### 2.2.1 DAC Methods

There are currently many different approaches to direct air capture as a CDR technique. Despite following the general functions of capturing through contact, regenerating  $CO_2$ , and storing the  $CO_2$ , each method varies the execution form of one or several of these steps. Figure 2.3 shows some of the most common variations for each of these steps along with the relative Technology Readiness Level (TRL) designations. Utilization is greyed out in the Storage Method portion of the figure since current utilization methods do not meet the requirements of a CDR technique for DAC (see Section 2.2.2 for more details).

Within the literature, the various methods are typically named based on their capture method. As shown in the figure, the four overarching methods in development today are Liquid Solvent DAC (L-DAC), Solid Sorbent DAC (S-DAC), Electro-Swing Adsorption DAC (ESA-DAC), and Membrane-Based DAC (m-DAC). The capture method chosen limits the options for regeneration methods based on how strongly the  $CO_2$  is bonded in the capture phase. L-DAC and S-DAC are the two DAC methods that have reached the pilot scale, while the other two are still in the lab phase of development. Both S-DAC and L-DAC are in the process of commercialization and have considerably more literature devoted to their study than other methods. [46]

Three DAC companies in particular are leading in the deployment and commercialization process: Climeworks, Carbon Engineering, and Global Thermostat. There are currently 18 plants in operation across the world, all of which are operated by one of these three companies. Climeworks and Global Thermostat both use variations of the S-DAC method,



Figure 2.3: Summary of direct air capture methods currently being pursued

while Carbon Engineering uses L-DAC. [47]

Despite these three companies leading in the commercialization space, there are many other companies active in the growing DAC industry. As of July 2023, there are 65 DAC companies that have joined the DAC Coalition, which is likely not inclusive of all in the industry but provides an idea of how quickly the number of companies is growing [21]. Some that publicly share information about their method of capture are listed in Table 2.1, along with their level of maturity and country of origin.

While most in the table are variations of S-DAC, there are a few instances of m-DAC and ESA-DAC. Given the low TRL for these methods, there is still limited information available for these methods [76]. They are still desirable to investigate further despite the immaturity due to the potential for lower energy use, which could ultimately lead to lower DAC costs.

#### L-DAC

The use of liquid solvents for DAC is a process that has been built off of the existing technology of separating  $CO_2$  from gas mixtures, such as natural gas [97]. These processes have been used commercially for over seventy years in various applications, but the requirement of producing concentrated  $CO_2$  streams for storage from lower concentration gas mixture (ambient air) makes DAC application more complex and costly without additional innovation [37]. Carbon Engineering is the company commercially pursuing this form of DAC, with one pilot plant in operation and the largest DAC commercial plant set to begin operating in 2024 [47]. This plant will have a capacity of 1,000,000 ton $CO_2/yr$ .

L-DAC begins by contacting ambient air with liquid solvents that have a high affinity for absorbing  $CO_2$ , such as potassium hydroxide. The solution with the dissolved  $CO_2$  then goes through a series of steps to regenerate the  $CO_2$  as a concentrated stream. It is first precipitated as a solid mixture that enables recycling of the solvent back to the prior stage,

Company	Location	Maturity	Method
Mission Zero Technologies	UK	Founded 2020	ESA-DAC
RepAir Carbon Capture	Israel	Founded 2020	ESA-DAC
Verdox	USA	POC/Pilot in progress	ESA-DAC
Capture6	USA	Founded 2021	L-DAC
Carbon Engineering	Canada	Pilots operating; Construct- ing commercial facility	L-DAC
Carbyon	Netherlands	Founded 2019; demo	m-DAC
Aircapture	USA	Founded 2019	S-DAC
AspiraDAC	Australia	Founded 2022	S-DAC
Carbon Collect	USA	Prototype constructed (Me- chanicalTree)	S-DAC
CarbonCapture	USA	Set to operate 2023	S-DAC
Climeworks	Switzerland	Multiple operating pilots & commercial plants	S-DAC
Global Thermostat	USA	Multiple pilots (not oper- ating) and two commercial construction projects	S-DAC
Heirloom Carbon	USA	Founded 2021; successful demonstration	S-DAC
Ifininitree	USA	Operating pilot	S-DAC
Noya	USA	Founded 2020	S-DAC
Removr	Norway	Founded 2022	S-DAC
Skytree	Netherlands	Operating pilot	S-DAC
Soletair Power	Finland	Operating pilot	S-DAC
Sustaera	USA	Founded 2021	S-DAC

Table 2.1: Examples of currently active DAC companies

then it is heated to a high temperature around 900°C with oxygen to release the  $CO_2$  from the precipitant and produce a pure  $CO_2$  stream for compression and storage. The precipitant material can be recombined with water to be recycled to the precipitant step. Due to the strong bond between the  $CO_2$  and the precipitant, L-DAC is generally only paired with the temperature-swing regeneration technique. [32]

There are several benefits and challenges unique to L-DAC. It can be run continuously and at large scales, which can be beneficial for economies of scale capture. However, due to the high temperature needed for regeneration, it currently requires natural gas combustion as an energy source, which emits more  $CO_2$  that must be recovered or accounted for in the total net  $CO_2$  removed calculation. This method can also have heavy water usage requirements depending on the ambient conditions at the plant location. [47]

#### S-DAC

As shown in Table 2.1, the majority of companies in the DAC industry are currently focused on variations of S-DAC [8]. This is a less mature DAC process compared to L-DAC and has more space for quick learning and innovation that could drive cost reductions [47].

In solid sorbent DAC, ambient air is drawn into the system and contacted with a solid sorbent that adsorbs the  $CO_2$ . The regeneration phase can then begin, where the mixture undergoes heating at low temperatures of around 100°C or less, pressure changes, humidity changes, or some combination of these to regenerate the sorbent and release the concentrated  $CO_2$ . Since the process uses adsorption instead of absorption, a weaker bond is created between the  $CO_2$  and the sorbent, allowing for more regeneration options and lower temperature requirements compared to L-DAC. [32]

Similar to L-DAC, S-DAC faces unique benefits and challenges. Due to the lower temperature requirements, it is more easily paired with renewable or low-carbon energy for electricity and thermal requirements. Rather than using water for operations, some forms of S-DAC can actually produce water as a by-product which may be beneficial in some communities. The size of S-DAC units can also be relatively small, allowing for modularization and a larger range of applications. However, sorbent costs are very high and the units cannot run continuously as each must individually cycle between capture and regeneration. [47]

Climeworks is the leading commercial company utilizing a form of S-DAC, with 15 DAC plants across the world that have capacities ranging from 3-4,000 ton $CO_2/yr$  [47]. The 4,000 ton $CO_2/yr$  plant, Orca, achieved third-party verification of its DAC carbon removal process in January 2023, which was a first for the DAC industry [7]. It is currently the only company offering carbon removal through DAC as a product [47].

#### **Emerging DAC Technologies**

Two alternate DAC methods that are being investigated include ESA-DAC and m-DAC. Both are still in the laboratory level of study but could provide future opportunities for DAC if successful [47].

Electro-swing adsorption uses an electrochemical cell for the separation of  $CO_2$  from air. When ambient air is contacted with the negatively charged electrode within the cell, the  $CO_2$  is adsorbed. A positive charge is then applied to release the  $CO_2$ , which can then be compressed and prepared for storage. [105]

The ESA-DAC technology has been shown to be more energy efficient than the traditional DAC methods in higher  $CO_2$  concentration streams but has only yet been proven at lab scale down to concentrations of 0.6%, which is not quite as low as outdoor ambient air [47]. The method also faces unique challenges specific to electrochemical systems that must be addressed before it is ready for commercial scale [6]. However, several companies and researchers are actively pursuing this method. If successful, ESA-DAC could deliver a less energy-intensive, very modular alternative to the more mature DAC methods.

An even less mature DAC method is m-DAC. It involves the separation of  $CO_2$  through the use of multiple stages of separation via membranes [30]. Keith et al. argue that this method is generally impractical due to the force required for membrane use at such low concentration of  $CO_2$  in ambient air [61]. It is still a method being actively studied for pointsource capture use since this application has a higher  $CO_2$  concentration. Any breakthroughs in PSC application could initiate future DAC innovations [47].

#### 2.2.2 Storage vs. Utilization

Once the  $CO_2$  is separated out from the ambient air, something must be done with it. In current DAC workflows, this means either storage or utilization. Either option has potential upsides and drawbacks.

Carbon utilization has the benefit of creating immediate monetary value for the extracted  $CO_2$ . Examples of utilization options include use in carbonated beverages or greenhouses, the creation of high-quality concrete, enhanced oil recovery, and the creation of synthetic fuels. The current drawback to utilization is that, at least in its current state, it is essentially  $CO_2$  recycling at best, rather than actual  $CO_2$  removal, except in the case of long-duration storage in concrete. Most utilization methods release the carbon back into the atmosphere within a short time period. Utilization will likely be instrumental in bringing down the cost of direct air capture as a technology, as it will be the primary way to make companies in the industry profitable until the cost of DACCS approaches buyer willingness to pay for carbon removal. [87]

Storing the carbon instead of using it is a much more durable practice and therefore qualifies as carbon removal. It is most commonly stored either in its supercritical state underground through a process called sequestration or stored as a solid by injecting it as a liquid solution into basalt or other reactive rocks, which is sometimes referred to as carbon mineralization. Because these processes can store carbon so effectively for massive time scales, they are often referred to as permanent removal methods. [80]

#### 2.2.3 Barriers to Implementation

The critical barrier to utilizing DAC is deftly summarized by Howard Herzog in his book *Carbon Capture*: "The question for DAC is not whether we can suck  $CO_2$  out of the air, but whether we can do it economically on a large scale" [37]. Multiple methods exist that can successfully complete the goals of DAC today as described in Section 2.2.1, but they are at such high costs that they are not economically competitive for carbon removal.

This high cost is primarily driven by the significant amount of energy required for operation, particularly the thermal energy in the regeneration stage [80]. The cost of sorbent materials for S-DAC can also involve massive capital expenditures, especially if they have a short lifetime [76]. While improvements in cost are likely as experience and learning grow, the energy requirements set by thermodynamics will set a cost floor for the technology given the current methods [36].

Other barriers include materials use, land use, humidity challenges in certain areas, and water use. Water use varies by DAC method since some S-DAC technologies can actually produce water. Land use impacts are lower compared to many other land-based CDR techniques, but still worth considering especially if onsite power systems are utilized. Indirect land usage should also be considered, as specific spacing between units may be required for optimal operations. Concerns have also been raised around the impact of low levels of  $CO_2$  near large facilities on crops and local ecosystems. [80]

The flexibility in location for DAC plants is often cited as a key benefit of DAC, but permitting and access to locations near underground storage could still create challenges [36]. Cooperation and engagement with local communities can help ease some of these challenges, but it is something to consider as operations are scaled up.

Despite these barriers, according to the IPCC DACCS faces the fewest constraints other than its cost compared to all other known CDR techniques [53]. Bringing down the costs of this technology will be critical for its successful deployment for carbon removal.

#### 2.2.4 Larger DAC Market Ecosystem

As recognition from the IPCC that CDR will be necessary to meet the Paris Temperature Goals has grown, the energy around DAC and its potential contribution to the CDR portfolio has escalated. This section provides a high-level overview of the current ecosystem through the lenses of public policy support, private sector purchases, and the DAC providers themselves. This ecosystem will be a key component of understanding potential future DAC costs.

#### **Public Policy Support**

According to the IEA, Canada, the European Union, the United Kingdom, and the United States have taken the lead in supporting DAC across the spectrum of development, from early R&D to demonstration and deployment [47]. While other countries are also providing support, these four have the most extensive policies in place.

The U.S. has passed two pieces of legislation since 2020 that are specifically beneficial for DAC development. The first is the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA), otherwise known as the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law, in 2021 [101]. This bill commits \$3.5 billion toward the creation of four DAC hubs within the US, along with an additional \$115 million in funding for pre-commercial and commercial DAC prizes. The second critical bill is the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA), which changed the tax credits associated with Section 45Q of the Internal Revenue Code [45]. The passage of this legislation increased the tax credit for DAC with underground storage in saline formations from the prior amount of \$50/tonCO<sub>2</sub> to

 $180/\text{tonCO}_2$  and also adjusted the capacity requirements for DAC tax credit qualification from  $100 \text{ MtCO}_2/\text{yr}$  to  $1 \text{ MtCO}_2/\text{yr}$ .

Additional policy progress is being made in the U.S. at a more local level. California, New York, Massachusetts, and Maryland are leading in general CDR policies and taking a portfolio approach that can be inclusive of DAC [74]. The California Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS) law in particular allows DAC projects anywhere globally to receive traded credits on average of  $200/\text{tonCO}_2$  as long as they meet the standards of the program [47] [11]. This credit can be combined with the 45Q credit for DAC projects that meet the requirements of both programs. When looking across states, DAC is noted as the technology most preferred by states for R&D funding [74], likely due to the DAC hub program.

Globally, DAC policies are also growing. While this thesis will not go into specific laws globally, what is important is that CDR and CCUS policies, and DAC eligibility by extension, have hundreds of millions of USD equivalent funding across the development process in at least four countries. Some laws focus solely on DAC, while others are just inclusive of the technology with funding or credits for DAC methods that meet the requirements. [47]

#### **Private Sector Purchasers**

Since 2020, DAC companies have raised around \$125 million in investments [47]. Despite the growing government funding support globally, the private sector is also becoming active in DAC investment.

In 2020, the company Stripe announced that it had prepurchased 322.5 tonCO<sub>2</sub> of Climeworks's DAC with storage carbon removal for  $775/tonCO_2$  [85]. By 2021, Shopify [17] and Microsoft [18] had also announced commitments to purchase carbon removal through Climeworks. The three joined together with Alphabet, Shopify, Meta, and McKinsey in 2022 to launch Frontier, an Advance Market Commitment (AMC) focused on accelerating permanent carbon removal technologies with a \$1B commitment through 2030 [28]. The group expanded to include Autodesk, H&M Group, JPMorgan Chase, and Workday a year later, adding another combined \$100M to the fund [29]. Since its launch, the AMC has purchased from fifteen CDR startups, four of which focus on direct air capture.

The idea behind an AMC is to encourage the development of a product by signaling a demand where supply is lacking. It was first used to stimulate the development of vaccines for low-income countries in 2007 [66]. In 2021, Athey et al. wrote an opinion article in Politico recommending a similar action be taken for CDR to expand the available portfolio [2]. The Frontier AMC was launched a few months later with this goal.

The Frontier AMC is not the only player private sector currently supporting the growth of the DAC industry. For example, the Climeworks website lists seventeen companies that have entered long-term commitments with the company for carbon removal services as of July 2023 [19]. Other companies are investing in the technology, often through DAC with utilization rather than storage. Others are partnering directly with DAC companies to advance deployment, like Oxy Low Carbon Ventures and Carbon Engineering [73].

The willingness of Frontier and other early purchasers to pay for DAC at its current costs could help bridge the gap between high prices and the policy support mechanisms, like the 45Q tax credit and LCFS in the U.S. Alongside niche applications of DAC with utilization, these early commitments are helping to create an early market for DAC and could help drive down costs to a level that additional CDR purchasers can afford [47].

#### **DAC** Providers

An overview of the technical DAC methods of the most active DAC providers is included in Table 2.1 from Section 2.2.1. The list of DAC companies is continuously growing as the demand from governments and the private sector continues to rise. The U.S. in particular is seeing a large growth in companies founded since the passage of the IIJA and IRA laws. As more players enter the field, the larger the opportunity for improvements of the various DAC methods grows through knowledge sharing and competition across companies.

#### 2.2.5 Cost Reduction Predictions

Experts have been debating whether or not direct air capture will come down in cost far enough to be economical for decades [25]. In 2011, House et al. predicted the costs would be around  $\$1,000/tonCO_2$  for net removal [38]. The American Physical Society released a highly influential study that same year estimating  $\$780/tonCO_2$  avoided for their "realistic" case, including emissions from powering the facility [97]. Since then, many experts have studied the potential cost of this technology, predicting costs ranging from  $\$100/tonCO_2$  to  $\$1,000/tonCO_2$  still [47].

Many studies are focused on eventual DAC cost, rather than initial costs that come with first-of-a-kind (FOAK) plants. However, a few studies do look at both. Fuss et al. estimate FOAK plant costs to be in the range of  $600-1000/tonCO_2$  based on their extensive literature review in 2018 [31]. Keith et al. provide detailed cost estimates for an L-DAC FOAK plant in the range of  $168-232/tonCO_2$  (2016\$) based on Carbon Engineering's design [62]. Initial costs for S-DAC are more straightforward, as the reported price for Stripe's carbon removal purchase through Climeworks is  $775/tonCO_2$  [85]. Climeworks's cost of  $600/tonCO_2$  is sometimes referred to in the literature, but this is based on gross removal, not total net removal [36]. Boston Consulting Group released a study as recently as June 2023 in which they estimate FOAK costs for L-DAC as  $880/tonCO_2$ , S-DAC as  $1,705/tonCO_2$ , and ESA-DAC as  $1,415/tonCO_2$  [3].

The same Boston Consulting Group report shows dramatic cost reduction potentials for each of the technologies: L-DAC as low as  $100/tonCO_2$ , S-DAC as low as  $70/tonCO_2$ , and ESA-DAC as  $95/tonCO_2$  [3]. In the 2019 report on negative emission technologies, the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine estimate a range of costs between  $156-5506/tonCO_2$  for a generic L-DAC system and a range of  $89-407/tonCO_2$  net for S-DAC using various energy sources<sup>1</sup> [80]. Fuss et al. provide an estimate of *n*th plants of  $200/tonCO_2$ , with a full range of costs from  $100-3300/tonCO_2$  [31]. Keith et al. also provide detailed cost estimates for *n*th L-DAC plant designs in the range of  $94-170/tonCO_2$ [62]. Climeworks reports having a roadmap of how they will reach  $200/tonCO_2$  removal costs by 2025 for their S-DAC design [33].

A concern raised by Howard Herzog and others is that often cost estimates for DAC are on a gross removal basis, rather than a net  $CO_2$  removed since the DAC process usually

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Excludes the scenario that utilized coal as an energy source for S-DAC since this method is not usually paired with coal.

involves some energy use that is not carbon-emission free [36] [76]. This can be tricky when comparing across estimates when gross vs. net is not specified. All costs reported in this section are for net removal costs upstream of compression, transportation, and storage unless otherwise noted.

### 2.3 Technological Progress Estimation

With the introduction of any new technology, there is usually a desire to understand how the costs will change over time. For a technology like direct air capture whose primary barrier to commercial growth is cost, this desire is particularly strong. The theory of technological change is one approach used extensively across the literature to forecast this behavior, especially for energy-related systems [4] [56] [75] [81]. While there are multiple approaches to estimating cost reductions for technologies within technological change theory, two stand out as the most common: 1) the use of Wright's Law which attributes cost changes to cumulative experience [108] [109] and 2) the use of Moore's law which attributes those changes to the passage of time [5] [24] [64].

Most studies tend to focus on one approach or the other, but in 2013 Nagy et al. completed a study comparing the accuracy of these two approaches against each other and four others [79]. Their study suggests that both Wright's and Moore's approaches demonstrated similar performance, with Wright's Law being the stronger of the two. Their findings support the proposal from Sahal that Moore's Law and Wright's Law become equivalent when cumulative experience grows exponentially [91]. Nagy et al. note that within the database they used for the comparison of approaches, the majority of technologies do exhibit this exponential growth [79]. Therefore, their conclusions may not be applicable to technologies that do not see exponential experience growth.

#### 2.3.1 Learning Rates

In 1936, Thomas P. Wright first introduced the concept of the learning curve [106]. He observed that there was a relationship between the number of units of a Boeing aircraft manufactured and the number of manhours it took to manufacture each unit. This phenomenon is referred to across the literature by many names, most commonly by learning rates, experience rates, progress functions, and learning-by-doing.

While Wright's observations centered around manufacturing and labor hours, the idea he proposed has evolved and been used across many industries [91] [109]. It is now recognized as the most common and most research-supported approach for estimating technological cost reductions [100]. For energy-related technologies, it has frequently been used to relate cost reductions to installed capacity or production as an estimate of cumulative experience [57] [59] [108]. Equation 2.1 shows the classic formula for this application:

$$Y = ax^b \tag{2.1}$$

where Y is the unit cost of the technology at a given time, a is the unit cost of the first unit, x is the cumulative experience, and b is the rate of the cost reduction. The learning

rate (LR) is determined by b as shown in Equation 2.2:

$$LR = 1 - 2^b \tag{2.2}$$

where LR is the learning rate. The progress ratio (PR) is also often regularly reported in the literature, which is shown in Equation 2.3:

$$PR = 1 - LR \tag{2.3}$$

Equation 2.4 is an adapted version of Equation 2.1 that relates the cumulative experience to the capacity installed at a current time relative to time zero. Since cumulative installed capacity is the most common way of representing experience for energy technologies [16], this form of the equation is seen frequently across the literature:

$$C(x_t) = C(x_0) \left(\frac{x_t}{x_0}\right)^b \tag{2.4}$$

where  $C_{x_t}$  is the cost of the technology at a given time,  $C_{x_0}$  is the initial cost,  $x_t$  is the cumulative installed capacity at time t,  $x_0$  is the cumulative installed capacity at the start of the analysis, and b is the rate of cost reduction as described in Equation 2.1.

The equations listed are the single-factor or one-factor approach of learning curve use. However, there are many other versions of learning rate analysis used across the literature. While one-factor models are the most common, the most common multi-factor approach seen in the literature is the two-factor approach. This approach uses both learning-by-doing and learning-by-research rates independently of one another, then sums the combination of the two to find the overall learning rate. An even more detailed analysis approach is the component approach. Both of these will be discussed in more detail in Section 2.3.3. [89]

Despite the regular use of learning curves for energy technologies, there is a considerable amount of caution provided by experts for use. For example, Junginger et al. point out that deciding the appropriate boundaries for analysis can drastically change the results found by learning rates like the time period of study, geographical boundaries, and other financial factors [57]. Another issue often argued is the necessity to include a cost floor for learning curve analyses to ensure costs don't fall unreasonably far for a given technology [75] [65] [90].

One key consideration when using experience curves is deciding what to use as the starting point for the analysis. This can be particularly tricky when applying analog historical learning curves to relatively new technologies since it has been observed that costs often increase rather than decrease in the early commercialization stage of deployment for new technologies [90] [9]. This time period before learning curves are applicable is often referred to as the pre-learning phase. To account for this, academics sometimes utilize an assumed cumulative capacity that must be reached before learning begins [4] [90]. In contrast to this, Ferioli et al. suggest that ideally, the analysis start point would be at production time zero [27]. However, they do note that it is often more practical to choose the start of the analysis based on current cumulative production instead.

Another similar but different criticism of early learning curve periods is that initial small capacities scaling up quickly can result in excessive price drops over a single year if learning curves are applied blindly. Kouvaritakis et al. address this issue by applying a cap on any single-year cost reduction [65]. Overall, there is no consensus in the literature on how to handle the start of learning curve analysis. It is apparent, though, that this should be a key consideration when undergoing a new analysis.

Despite most technologies experiencing a positive learning rate, negative learning rates are possible. This occurs when prices increase over time for a technology, rather than the typical reduction. Reasons for this specifically in energy technologies have been attributed to oligopolistic behaviors [65], costly regulatory restrictions [56], and experience depreciation over long periods of time if facilities are built less regularly [75].

#### 2.3.2 Improvement Rates

Rather than basing the rate of cost reduction on cumulative experience, improvement rate calculations simplify things by relating the cost reduction to time. This was first proposed by Gordon E. Moore in 1965 when he predicted that every two years the number of transistors on integrated circuits would double [78]. Equation 2.5 shows the accompanying formula for the observation, today known as Moore's Law [79]:

$$Y = B * e^{-mt} \tag{2.5}$$

where Y is the unit cost of the technology at some time, t, B is the unit cost at time zero, and m is the improvement rate.

Using Moore's law simplifies cost reduction estimates dramatically compared to learning rate analyses since the assumptions on how much experience is gained over time are removed from the calculation. It has been expanded upon and extended to other technologies since Moore's original observation, such as energy technologies. Christopher L. Magee in particular has worked with many coauthors using patent analysis combined with Moore's law to estimate technological improvement for various energy technologies [5] [26] [95].

While not as common in the literature for energy technologies as learning rate analyses, improvement rate analyses can still provide insight into how technology costs are changing over time. It is yet another lens through which technological progress can be viewed to get a better overall picture of potential change paths.

#### 2.3.3 Multi-Factor Approaches

One key criticism of one-factor learning rate analyses is that they assume learning-by-doing is the only effective driver of cost reductions being estimated [93]. Because of this potential oversimplification, it has been suggested that one-factor models are often more optimistic than reality [70]. Multi-factor technological change models attempt to address these concerns by including more detail in the analysis.

Two-factor analysis is one multi-factor analysis approach that addresses this concern. It is one of the most common multi-factor analysis approaches seen across the literature for energy technologies [56] [89]. This approach typically includes one learning-by-doing factor and another learning-by-research factor focused on R&D spend over time [65]. Two key criticisms of this approach include the reliability and availability of data on R&D spend in both the public and private sectors and the interconnections of these two variables [108]. Another multi-factor approach that avoids these concerns is the component-based approach. This approach simply expands the traditional learning curve formula to include a factor for each component within a system decomposed to some level chosen by the researcher, then sums the subsystems to understand the system level [27] [108]. By approaching the problem in this way, the analysis can account for different levels of maturity and complexity for the components that make up a technology [89]. It also has been suggested to help explain why learning curves often seem to flatten over time, as some components may mature faster than others [27]. Equation 2.6 shows this application to 2.4:

$$C(Q_t) = \sum C_{0i} \left(\frac{Q_{ti}}{Q_{0i}}\right)^{-b_i}$$
  
=  $C_{01} \left(\frac{Q_{t1}}{Q_{01}}\right)^{-b_1} + \dots + C_{0n} \left(\frac{Q_{tn}}{Q_{0n}}\right)^{-b_n}$  (2.6)

where  $C(Q_t)$  is the total cost of the technology at a given time t,  $C_{0i}$  is the initial cost of each component i,  $Q_{ti}$  is the cumulative installed capacity at time t of each component,  $Q_{0i}$  is the cumulative installed capacity for each component at the start of the analysis, and b is the rate of cost reduction as described in Equation 2.1.

This same idea can also be applied to improvement rate estimations. Equation 2.7 shows the multi-factor version of Equation 2.5 for this use:

$$Y = \sum B_i * e^{-m_i t}$$
  
=  $B_1 * e^{-m_1 t} + \dots + B_n * e^{-m_n t}$  (2.7)

where each variable of Equation 2.5 is now expanded into each component *i*.

Similar to other approaches for estimating technological progress, the component approach does have criticisms within the literature. It struggles with accurate information at the right level of detail as discussed for two-factor approaches [89]. The concerns raised with early learning and other uncertainties noted in one-factor analyses can also be applied at a component level with this approach, such that the overall uncertainty in the results is potentially higher upon aggregation [108].

#### 2.3.4 Application to Direct Air Capture

Learning curves have been utilized for estimating direct air capture costs by several researchers, with many different interpretations of appropriate analog rates. In 2012, Nemet and Brandt proposed using learning rates of 10% from carbon capture at power plants for DAC as the closest analog [83]. Fasihi et al. directly refute this proposal in 2019, saying it is more appropriate to use a learning rate of 15% due to DAC's high modularity [25]. They point out that similar modular energy technologies see averages in this range as there are more opportunities for standardization at an international level and massive economies of scale. Breyer et al. support this, citing a range of 10%-15% as realistic [8]. Azarabadi and Lackner choose a rate of 20% for their DAC learning rate analysis, citing solar PV, fuel cells, and electrolysis as analogs in both their 2020 and 2021 economic assessments [4] [67]. Finally, McQueen et al. use the full range of 10%-20% for their 2021 analysis specifically for S-DAC costs to understand the range of outcomes for this method [76].

From these papers, some similarities can be noted. First, all use learning rates for their analysis; none found focus on improvement rates. All but Nemet and Brandt focus on one-factor analysis for DAC, while they investigate a component approach using three factors: capital cost, energy cost, and O&M cost [83]. Only McQueen et al. specified which DAC method their analysis was focused on. While most provide context around why a given learning rate is chosen, this component of each analysis is not described in much detail.

Considering these gaps in the literature, this thesis aims to analyze the potential future costs of DAC through several lenses. First, an analysis is conducted to better understand an appropriate analog technology for each of the most common DAC methods. Then these results are used to perform one-factor LR and IR analyses and component-based LR and IR analyses for both S-DAC and L-DAC methods. This allows for comparison across estimation approaches for each DAC method and for comparison across DAC methods.
# Chapter 3 Method and Framework

This chapter first describes the approach used to answer the research questions identified in Section 1.3. It then compiles the necessary inputs for the learning and improvement rate analyses. These inputs include initial DAC cost estimates, DAC's anticipated experience growth rate, the system decomposition by DAC method, and the key drivers for each analog technology considered for comparison to DAC methods in Chapter 4.

# 3.1 Problem Formulation

As described in the Literature Review, while there are many ways to estimate how the cost of a given technology may reduce over time, the most common approaches are using Wright's law for learning rates or Moore's law for improvement rates. While the literature shows that either approach should yield similar results in the short term [79], this thesis uses both approaches to explore the range of probable outcomes for DAC cost reductions through two lenses: one-factor learning/improvement rate analysis and component-based learning/improvement analysis.

The estimation of the cost reduction using Moore's law is relatively straightforward since time is the independent variable utilized. Key inputs include the improvement rate and the initial cost, as described in Section 3.2. It is worth noting that the availability of improvement rate data is somewhat scarce and only available for some analogs being assessed. This is discussed further in Section 3.2.4.

Using learning rates for cost reduction estimation adds complexity to the analysis by requiring an estimate of DAC experience over time if the results are to be compared to the Paris Temperature Goal. Assumptions for this portion of the analysis are described in Section 3.2.2. Other key inputs include learning rates and initial cost, which are described in more detail in Section 3.2. Learning rate estimates are very common for all analog technologies being compared and have been well summarized by key papers utilized for the analysis.

### 3.1.1 DAC Methods Considered for This Assessment

Before beginning the analysis, the scope boundaries must be defined. The first of these boundaries is the methods of DAC to include for evaluation. Within the relatively young DAC industry, a dominant design has not yet emerged [46] [31]. As seen from the literature review, there is still a wide range of methods being investigated and pursued. Therefore, the range of assessment for this thesis has been limited to several of the most common approaches: S-DAC, L-DAC, ESA-DAC, and m-DAC. All four will be assessed in the analog analysis, but only S-DAC and L-DAC will be investigated in the cost reduction analysis.

While the  $CO_2$  captured by DAC systems can be utilized or stored, the scope of this analysis will focus solely on pairing DAC with storage. While DAC with utilization will likely be a key enabler for bringing down the cost of DAC systems overall through niche markets, most applications for utilization at this point are carbon neutral rather than carbon negative since they are not storing the  $CO_2$  for a long duration [54] [82] [87] [98]. This analysis is focused on the cost of DAC when used as a carbon removal technology and will therefore consider the cost of sequestration as part of the calculations.

### 3.1.2 Framing of DAC Analog Analysis

The analog analysis investigates several energy technologies that have had enough technological change over time to infer a learning or improvement rate. Through the literature investigation in Section 3.2.4, drivers for each technology's rate of change are identified. These are crucial inputs for the one-factor learning/improvement rate analysis and also help provide context within the component-level analysis.

Once identified, these drivers are compared against the four DAC methods to determine an appropriate analog for each in Section 4.1. The learning and improvement rates for each analog can then be used to estimate how one may expect the cost to change over time for the two most mature methods: S-DAC and L-DAC. It also helps identify levers that governments and DAC providers could utilize to help accelerate cost reductions moving forward. This will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 5.

Since ESA-DAC and m-DAC do not yet have pilot-scale operations, these technologies are not included in the cost reduction analysis. Instead, these DAC methods are included in the analog analysis to support future studies. Their inclusion in the analog analysis also provides insight into opportunities for companies to consider to enable future cost reductions through early architectural decisions.

## 3.1.3 Framing of DAC System Decomposition Analysis

The system decomposition approach breaks down DAC technology into subsystems for more detailed cost reduction forecasting. This enables the analysis to capture variance in cost reductions at the component level, since different components of the system may be at varying levels of maturity. The methodology utilized for this analysis closely follows that of Rubin et al. for the application of point-source  $CO_2$  capture [90]. The DAC systems are decomposed into subsystems, a learning rate is applied to each, then the cost of the total system is calculated based on the sum of the subsystems. A typical learning curve can then be applied to this result to directly compare the total system cost to that calculated from the one-factor analysis.

Due to data availability, only the two most mature DAC methods are investigated using this approach: S-DAC and L-DAC. Since both have reached pilot-level operations, significantly more information on how these systems integrate together and their approximate costs is available for assessment.

It is worth noting that the lack of inclusion of the other DAC methods in the decomposition assessment does not indicate that these methods will not be key contributors to DAC as a net negative technology in the future. In fact, if some of these methods can be implemented at a commercial scale, they could be instrumental in bringing DAC down the cost curve by utilizing less energy-intensive carbon removal techniques [94] [105]. However, given the limited amount of detailed information available for these methods in the literature at this time, it is most effective to consider these only for the analog analysis.

# 3.2 Inputs for Analysis

Several key inputs must be compiled to complete this analysis. The first is an initial cost assumption for the DAC methods in scope. Next, future DAC capacity scale-up assumptions are described as an approximation of experience to perform the learning rate analyses. A system decomposition for DAC to be utilized in the component learning and improvement analyses is then devised. Finally, evaluation criteria for the analog analysis are developed.

### 3.2.1 Initial Cost Estimates

As discussed in Section 3.1, only S-DAC and L-DAC are considered for cost reduction analysis since they are both mature enough for robust current or actual cost estimates. All calculations will assume 2024 as the starting year for the analysis. Cost estimates vary drastically between the two methods due to very different system materials and processes. Therefore, each will have a different initial cost assumption based on the existing commercial operations and literature estimates. It is also worth noting that much of the literature is focused on eventual capture costs for *n*th systems, not necessarily initial first-of-a-kind (FOAK) costs. This distinction is carefully considered for this choice of initial estimates.

As Climeworks is the only S-DAC company with commercial CDR operations, their reported price for Stripe's carbon removal purchase of  $775/tCO_2$  is utilized [85]. Since this price includes both capture and storage, the storage portion of the price is removed for this analysis since it is solely focused on the price of CO<sub>2</sub> capture. The approximate price of CO<sub>2</sub> storage with Climework's storage partner, Carbfix, on their website is listed as  $25/tCO_2$  [13]. This puts the initial price of S-DAC for the analysis at  $750/tCO_2$ .

L-DAC does not yet have commercial operations, but detailed cost estimates are available in the literature. Keith et al. explored the cost of this method in detail and found that a range for initial costs of  $168-232/tCO_2$  (2016\$) is appropriate for a FOAK plant based on Carbon Engineering's baseline process and pilot operations [62]. In a more recent study that breaks down DAC costs by method and components, the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine report a range of  $156-506/tCO_2$  for a generic L-DAC system's net removal cost across a range of energy sources; however, this study does not specify if these cost ranges are for FOAK or *n*th plant assumptions [80]. The large range of costs can be attributed to the variation of emissions across the energy sources included in the study and the associated cost to capture the additional carbon emissions, plus a variance of price quotes and sources for the components that make up the system. Regardless of whether they are looking at initial or final costs, this range has estimates that exceed the Carbon Engineering prediction. Considering the full range of costs across the literature for this method, an L-DAC average initial capture cost is chosen at  $330/tCO_2$  for this thesis.

Since these initial cost estimates are using reported  $CO_2$  purchase amounts, these are technically prices and likely include some inherent margin. However, price and cost will be used interchangeably throughout the thesis for readability.

### 3.2.2 DAC Experience Growth

To perform the portion of the analysis that uses learning rates, assumptions must be made regarding how DAC experience will grow. For energy technologies, this is usually approximated through cumulative capacity growth [75]. For the base analysis, the "CO<sub>2</sub> capture by direct air capture 2020-2030" dataset compiled by the International Energy Agency (IEA) is utilized [40]. The "Operating capacity" and "Advanced development" project capacity estimates are summed and extrapolated to 2050 as the baseline global capacity growth trend.

The total global capacity is considered to be evenly divided between S-DAC and L-DAC for this analysis. This is based on the existing breakdown of projects in IEA's database [40]. While more companies in the industry are focused on S-DAC methods, L-DAC system capacities are much larger such that the overall project capacities between the two methods are split fairly evenly in the planned project list.

It is worth noting that this may be a relatively conservative DAC capacity forecast as it only considers projects far into development and currently operating; however, it provides a strong baseline for cost reduction expectations. For this reason, several capacity growth sensitivity cases are also considered in the analysis with varying degrees of DAC implementation. Some focus on what could be expected based on announced projects while others focus on what would be needed to meet the Paris Temperature Goal. Table 3.1 outlines these additional sensitivity cases. Figure 3.1 shows how the scaling rates compare to one another for reference, excluding the analog scale-up rates since those will be chosen in Chapter 4. Announced project extrapolations are noted by squares, while goal-derived forecasts are indicated by diamonds. The total UK emissions from 2022 are also shown in Figure 3.1 for reference of the scale of removal capacity compared to actual emission levels [88].



Figure 3.1: Plot of DAC capacity scale-up scenarios considered

Case	Description	Source					
Base	Projection: Projects in IEA's DAC Projects dataset	[40]					
Dase	listed as operating or in advanced development	[40]					
Analog Scale-Up Projection: Assumes DAC capacity scales at th							
Analog Scale-Op	same rate as the chosen analog for LR analysis						
IEA All Projects	Projection: Base scenario plus the IEA-identified	[40]					
early development projects							
	Goal-derived: Average of DAC capacity across AR6						
IPCC AR6	scenarios that meet the Paris Temperature Goals	[10]					
	(C1-C3 scenarios)						
IEA WEO STEDS Goal-derived: DAC capacity from IEA's World En-							
	ergy Outlook Stated Policies scenario	[40]					
IFA WEO NZE	Goal-derived: DAC capacity from IEA's World En-	[48]					
	ergy Outlook Net Zero Emissions scenario						

Table 3.1: DAC capacity scale-up scenarios considered

# 3.2.3 DAC System Decomposition

For the component analysis, each DAC system is broken down into smaller components with an individual learning or improvement rate due to the assumption that some system components will have a cost change more rapidly than others. First, the systems are split into capital expenses (CAPEX), operating expenses (OPEX), and costs associated with capturing the generated emissions from operating. Then the systems are further divided into components based on function within the capture process.

Cost assumptions for each component system are based on the DAC techno-economic analysis in the *Negative Emissions Technologies and Reliable Sequestration: A Research Agenda* report from the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine to generate a percentage contribution of that component to total system cost [80]. Since the study is focused on eventual DAC costs and not FOAK costs, these percentages are then applied to the initial costs defined in Section 3.2.1 for each method. Examples of costs that are not explicitly included in the technical system decomposition that are incorporated in the total initial cost estimates include land-purchase or leasing costs, insurance, G&A, and profit margins. The subsystem learning and improvement rates are chosen based on each component's novelty, scalability, and similarity to other technologies.

The generated emissions costs strongly depend on the type of energy used for electricity and thermal energy, as more carbon-intensive sources will result in more costs to recover the emitted carbon. This provides an estimate of *net*  $CO_2$  *removed* rather than just absolute  $CO_2$  captured. This results in a more realistic cost estimate for using DAC as a carbon removal technique, rather than just a carbon-neutral one.

### S-DAC Decomposition

In the Negative Emissions Technologies and Reliable Sequestration report, five scenarios are considered, ranging from best to worst outcomes for S-DAC costs. Within the study, the authors specifically mention that both the "1-Best" and "5-Worst" scenarios are not expected to be reached. Therefore, the S-DAC decomposition costs for this analysis are based on the "2-Low", "3-Mid", and "4-High" scenarios that are cited as more realistic outcomes. The resulting percentage contributions to the total cost of the system are shown in Figure 3.2. The "Generated  $CO_2$  Capture" box represents the additional costs for capturing the  $CO_2$  that is generated by running the system. The assumed energy source is solar for both electricity and thermal energy, so these generated  $CO_2$  capture costs are relatively low compared to other components. [80]

### L-DAC Decomposition

The L-DAC information presented in the Negative Emissions Technologies and Reliable Sequestration report provides a range of costs due to the maturity of the technologies in the conceptual process analyzed by the committee, rather than the multi-scenario analysis done for S-DAC. For this thesis, an average of the high and low costs for this range has been used to create a representative mid-case for L-DAC. The resulting percentage contributions to total cost of the system are shown in Figure 3.3. [80]



Figure 3.2: S-DAC System decomposition of by cost based on *Negative Emissions Technologies and Reliable Sequestration* 3-Mid Cost Scenario



Figure 3.3: L-DAC System decomposition by cost based on average of low and high cost ranges from *Negative Emissions Technologies and Reliable Sequestration* analysis

Analog	Learning Rate	Source	Improvement Rate	Source	
Solar PV	23%	[89]	9%	[5]	
Wind Energy	12%	[89]	2.9%	[5]	
Natural Gas Plants	14%	[89]	7%	[95]	
Hydropower Plants	1.4%	[89]	not available		
Nuclear Power	-	[89]	not available		

Table 3.2: Analogs included for this analysis alongside their assumed learning and improvement rates

# 3.2.4 Analogs and Key Drivers for Technological Change

In preparation for the comparison of existing technologies to DAC, an investigation of key drivers for historical cost trends of each analog is needed. This section addresses this need, first by identifying which technologies will be considered for the analysis, then by outlining the major factors that contributed to their rate of change in cost per the literature.

For this analysis, only energy-related analogs are included. Energy technologies involve significant up-front capital investments whose life cycles last for many years, if not decades, with slow payoffs over time [63]. Because of this, innovations can often come at a slower rate and existing energy systems can be more difficult to displace [82]. Given these unique characteristics, the scope of the analog assessment has been limited to energy systems.

Table 3.2 shows each of the analogs considered, along with the assumed learning and improvement rates if chosen as the appropriate analog. Only solar, wind, and natural gas plants were identified as having an analysis completed for improvement rates, so hydropower and nuclear plants will not be available for this portion of the analysis. Learning rates are much more common across the literature, and a summarized mean one-factor learning rate has been pulled for each technology from the Rubin et al. comprehensive study on electricity supply technology learning rates for use in this thesis [89]. It is worth noting that Rubin et al. determined that the mixed results on nuclear plants for having both positive and negative learning rates indicate this technology may not be an applicable use case for learning-by-doing, which is reflected in the table.

The following subsections outline the key drivers for cost improvement over time for each technology based on the available literature. This supports the creation of evaluation criteria for comparison against DAC technologies to determine the appropriate analogs in Section 4.1.

#### Solar PV

Solar PV technology has demonstrated higher learning rates than any other energy technology [75] [89]. It is therefore held as the gold standard to aim for by many with regard to future energy technologies. Because of this, there is a significant amount of information regarding solar PV's cost reductions and learning rates in the literature [67] [76] [82].

The most exhaustive investigation of solar PV's cost reductions over time to date can be found in Gregory F. Nemet's book, *How Solar Energy Became Cheap: A Model for Low-Carbon Innovation.* He systematically lays out a comprehensive history of solar PV technology and his findings for the key drivers for its dramatic cost reductions over the last 70 years. He identifies 11 key factors that enabled solar PV to scale as it did, with the goal of creating a model for future energy technologies to build off of to accelerate scaling. The factors are subdivided into three categories: (1) attributes that are specific to the technology itself that enabled scaling, (2) aspects of the production process, and (3) characteristics of the global adoption process. This is summarized in Table 3.3. In addition to these solar-specific characteristics, two additional factors are included in the table under the category of "external support" as they are actions driven by stakeholders external to solar PV providers that enabled cost reductions. While he does not explicitly list them in the solar PV characteristics lists, he does identify them as essential enablers to its scale-up. [82]

Others have studied various aspects of the improvement of solar, but this remains the most holistic analysis. It is therefore the primary source for this technology's analog framework. To ensure consistency with the remainder of the literature, other supporting sources that reference each factor have been added to the table.

Some of the factors listed are less intuitive to understand without additional context than others. "Strong link to scientific phenomenon" is one of these. Nemet points out that solar PV is closely tied to fundamental science, like the structure of atoms and how light works. He further asserts that this strong tie to these principles closely links the development of this technology to academia and government labs, such that government-level R&D spending was particularly effective at building step-by-step improvements. Furthermore, since the theory behind the technology was accessible to all through scientific articles, the fundamental information was able to spread quickly and globally. [82]

Another factor that could benefit from additional information is "openness to technology spillovers". This could apply to many products, but it was particularly important to solar PV due to its modular design. This allowed for stepwise adjustments over time as other domains like the computer industry had breakthroughs that could be applied to solar PV design and manufacturing. It also was able to utilize learnings from wind energy commercialization, particularly in policy structuring and incorporation into the existing power grid. [82]

The last couple of factors to highlight are "automated production suitability" and "tolerance for design compromise". For production automation, the modular make-up of solar PV was key. Many production facilities only produced one level of the value chain, such as just the full modules from receiving the cells from another facility or just the cells after receiving wafers from somewhere else. "Tolerance for design compromise" refers to the Chinese production of solar PV. They took designs that had been good enough to allow for the niche application of solar PV in space and made compromises in efficiency and reliability that allowed them to decrease production costs significantly compared to other countries while meeting the needs for application for power on Earth. [82]

Factor	Category	Impact	Source
Strong link to scientific phenomenon	Device	Enhanced the value of research and design expendi- tures leading up to and throughout commercialization	[82] [34] [60] [100]
Early convergence on dominant design	Device	Led to focused optimization on that design; others emerged over time and built on learnings	[82]
Development into a standardized prod- uct	Device	Enabled efficient installation, labor training, and inte- gration into existing energy systems	[82] [99]
Openness to technology spillovers	Device	Allowed for integration of improvements in other fields, like the computer industry and wind industry	[82]
Massive units of manufacturing production	Production	Enabled constant opportunities for improvement with each production iteration	[82]
Automated production suitability	Production	Shifted innovation focus from the technology itself to improvements within the production process	[82] [12] [60]
Tolerance for design compromise	Production	Willingness to sacrifice small amounts of efficiency enabled large gains in cost reductions	[82]
Relatively low entry cost to production market	Production	Enabled strong competition in production of panels	[82] [34]
Flexibility of modular design	Adoption	Created large number of niche applications to help bridge adoption to grid integration	[82]
Generally appealing to the public	Adoption	Conversations amongst networks of people led to clus- ters of adoption and local community political support	[82]
Geographically mobile components	Adoption	Ease of shipping of panels and their key components allowed for efficient trade and dispersed supply chains	[82]
Niche markets independent of policy	External Support	High willingness to pay from niche users helped carry solar through policy-support lulls	[82] $[100]$
Public policy support	External Support	Government support at municipal, state, and national levels at various times globally carried demand	$[82] \\ [34] [60] \\ [100]$

Table 3.3: Summarized table of solar PV characteristics that enabled scale-up, as described by Nemet (2019)

## Wind

While no reference specifically dedicated to analyzing the drivers for wind energy cost reductions over time was found, there was an abundance of literature available discussing learning rates in wind energy technology and several focused on *why* the costs had come down over time. These are significant for developing the evaluation criteria for the use of wind energy as an analog for DAC.

There are many approaches across the literature for wind learning rate analyses. Some focus on wind turbine learning specifically [22], while others focus more generally on the cost of wind energy costs at a larger scale [39] [57]. Many that choose this method subdivide wind energy costs into two categories: onshore and offshore [58] [89]. Onshore wind energy costs will be the main focus of this study since these systems are more similar to the current deployment efforts for DAC. At some point in the future, offshore wind may become a stronger analog if DAC systems begin to move offshore. Wind turbine studies are included in the review since they can help understand drivers of cost reductions at the system level.

Following the example of solar PV, Table 3.4 has been created to summarize key drivers for cost reduction in wind energy found in the literature. The same categories are used for consistency across technologies. There may be factors from solar that could also be argued for wind, but only those specifically found as cost drivers in the literature are included.

Factor	Category	Impact	Source
Improved technology	Device	Makes them cheaper and more productive	[39] [57] [22]
Increase in size	Device	Larger turbines mean increased capacity per turbine, meaning total infrastructure cost de- creases	[39] [57] [22]
High capital-to-opex ratio	Device	Capital costs account for 75-90% of wind energy costs, meaning reductions in the production of units has a large impact on the \$/kW costs	[39]
Reduction in cost of technology financing	Adoption	Cost of financing decreased as confidence built in the technol- ogy	[39]
Manufacturing scale	Production	Economies of scale in manufac- turing and supply chains reduce the cost of each wind turbine	[22] [58]
Public policy support	External support	A variety of policies that sup- ported development of the wind industry was highly impactful to cost reductions	[22] [71]

Table 3.4: Summarized table of wind characteristics that enabled cost reductions

#### Natural Gas Power Plants

Natural gas combined cycle (NGCC) plants, also known as gas turbine combined cycle (GTCC) or combined cycle gas turbine (CCGT) plants, largely began being used for baseload power generation in the 1990s and 2000s. Some NGCCs were built and operated prior to that point, but various ecosystem factors prevented the technology from becoming successful until that time period, and increasing costs were observed. From the 1990s on, a decreasing cost trend for NGCCs is apparent. [20]

Several studies have been done on learning rates before, after, and during the 1990s where a clear change in trend is observed. Depending on the time period chosen, very different results for learning are calculated [89]. The majority of studies on learning for NGCCs in the literature focus on single-factor LRs [20] [75].

Like wind energy, energy costs for natural gas power can be calculated in multiple ways. One can focus solely on the cost of the natural gas turbine or the cost at a plant level to generate electricity from natural gas based on \$/kW or \$/kWh. Rubin et al. show that the average learning rates across the literature for natural gas turbines or energy produced from natural gas plants are very similar [89]. With that in mind, this study focuses on \$/kW generated by NGCC plants as the metric of interest to keep consistent across technologies.

There was limited information in the literature focused on *why* the NGCC plant cost trends occurred, but some papers briefly discuss it. Table 3.5 summarizes the key factors noted from these studies regarding NGCC plant cost trends. While this technology did not undergo rapid cost reductions like solar and wind, the factors outlined in the table illustrate the underlying influences on its rate of cost change. These factors offer insights into potential parallels in cost behaviors for technologies sharing similar characteristics.

The time period covered by the average learning rate being used for this study (1980-1998) includes both the era of negative and positive learning rates. This is a deliberate choice to not bias the study toward overly optimistic outcomes if this is shown to be the right technology to use as an analog for DAC. It is suggested by Kouvaritakis that actions indicative of an oligopoly may be the cause of the negative learning rates within this time period [65].

#### Hydropower Plants

Hydropower is currently and has historically been the largest contributor to renewable energy production globally [42]. Despite this, there is very limited study on learning rates for hydropower across the literature [92]. It is possible that this is due to its extensive history, with the first industrial use of hydropower in 1880 [69].

The most cited paper for hydropower learning rates comes from Kouvaritakis et al. They report a single-factor learning rate of 1.4% for both small and conventional large hydropower plants from the period of 1975-1993 [65]. This is then cited by many other papers that include hydropower in their learning rate assessments [75] [89]. The original paper and those that reference it do not specify drivers for the reduction in costs for the technology nor the time period covered for the rate estimation, just the rate itself.

Another calculation of a learning rate for hydropower comes from Jamasb. He calculates two-factor learning rates for various electricity generation technologies. For hydropower,

Factor	Category	Impact	Source
Complex systems with individualized project costs	Device	Plants are generally designed and produced on an individual basis, leading to flexibility in size but difficulty in standardizing early on	[20]
Derived from a com- bination of mature technologies	Device	Technology was created from combining steam turbine and in- dustrial gas turbines, rather than new scientific development	[20] [9]
Relatively low capital with similar OPEX cost compared to other energy sources	Device	Compared to other energy sources at the time (coal, oil, nuclear), NGCCs had relatively low capital costs and short construction time, increasing competitiveness	[20] [9]
Eventual standardiza- tion of components for plants	Production	Standardization at a module level allowed for cost reductions in unit price by making production easily repeatable	[20]

Table 3.5: Summarized table of natural gas characteristics that drove cost trends through study timeframe

Factor	Category	Impact	Source	
Long plant lifetime	Dorrigo	Plants average 80 years or more	[41]	
Long plant metime	Device	of use once built	[69]	
Site limited technol		Installation is limited based on		
orv	Device	where water resources are avail-	[107]	
ogy		able		
		Installations cover a large range		
Largo variety of	Device/	of capacity based on the available	[60]	
plante sizes in use	Produc-	water and head, from less than	[03]	
plants sizes in use	tion	1kW to 22.5GW; limits standard-		
		ization		
		Has been used industrially since	[41]	
Mature technology	Adoption	1880 with no studies found fo-	[69]	
		cused on early adoption	[86]	
		Over the time period studied		
Government owner-	Adoption	for LR, the majority of facilities	[86]	
ship	Adoption	were planned, developed, and	ျပပျ	
		operated by governments		

Table 3.6: Hydropower characteristics that are assumed to explain its learning rates

learning-by-doing rates of 1.96% and 0.48% are calculated for large and small hydropower technologies, respectively. The time period of investigation for each of these is 1980-1998 for large and 1988-2001 for small hydropower. For large hydropower, this indicates that the learning rates reported only review a very mature time period, which is supported by the "mature" classification it is assigned. Since these are two-factor estimates, these learning rates are not seen across the rest of the literature focused on one-factor learning rates. [55]

The final calculation of a hydropower learning rate comes from Yao et al. [107]. Their study used a multi-factor approach and calculated a learning rate of 12.25% over the period of 2010-2018. They also attempted to calculate a one-factor learning rate for each technology studied, but note that the one-factor model failed for hydropower due to cost increases over the time period studied.

Given this lack of more detailed information on cost change drivers, the criteria listed in Table 3.6 will be used for the comparison to DAC, based on the examples of solar, wind, and natural gas.

#### **Nuclear Plants**

Nuclear plants are unique compared to the other energy technologies included as potential analogs for this study in that they show increasing price trends with cumulative installation several times over their history [35] [89]. This would indicate a negative learning rate over these time periods. While this is certainly not what a new energy technology would want to emulate, it is important to include it in the study to check for similarities between the technologies. If found, this could serve as an early warning sign of possible cost increases over time, rather than the desired learning-by-doing that is anticipated by the industry.

Grubler suggests that using learning rates is not applicable in the case of nuclear power in his investigation of the costs of the French nuclear power scale-up. Despite this being considered the most successful experience with nuclear power, the increasing costs over time still show a negative learning rate. Due to the technology itself, he notes increasing system complexity over time as countries gained more experience constructing, operating, and reacting to problems with the plants. It is worth noting that this study specifically focuses on France with some comparisons to the U.S. over the period of 1970 to 2000. [35]

In a more recent study, Lovering et al. take a broader view of the nuclear cost history by investigating trends through 2015 across seven countries that account for 58% of global reactors. They find that nuclear technology does not have a specific inherent cost trend and caution against using learning rates to predict future costs without incorporating the large variance in trends across countries and time. [72]

For the purposes of this study, the criteria listed in Table 3.7 will be used to determine if nuclear is the most appropriate analog for DAC. If deemed most appropriate, this would indicate that DAC may not be an appropriate technology to use learning or improvement rate analysis for.

Factor	Category	Impact	Source
Construction and operation complexity	Device	The large-scale and inherent complexity of the facilities limit incremental small learnings through experience	[35]
Lack of standard- ization in reactor design	Production	No historical standardized de- sign for reactors until South Korea in 1989, which showed a positive learning rate through 2008	[72]
Increasing environ- mental and safety regulations	Adoption	Increased safety standards and system complexity as experience accumulates and incidents occur	[35] [72]

Table 3.7: Summarized table of nuclear power plant characteristics that contributed to negative learning rates

# Chapter 4

# Results

# 4.1 DAC Analog Analysis

Using the tables created in Section 3.2.4, each potential analog's key drivers are compared against the four direct air capture methods using the following criteria. Each is based on the author's judgment from what has been read across the literature for each DAC method:

- F: Focus Alignment with this factor is a focus for this DAC method. It is mentioned regularly by academic articles and company websites in this domain.
- O: Opportunity There is an opportunity for this DAC method to align with this factor based on the characteristics of the method. It is not something regularly mentioned by those in the domain at this time, but given the features of the method, a path to aligning with this factor is reasonably feasible.
- LO: Limited opportunity There is limited or no opportunity for this DAC method to align with this factor based on its characteristics.

Table 4.1 summarizes these comparison results. The factors are adjusted from what was shown in the tables in Section 3.2.4 to have more consistency across analogs. An appropriate analog is chosen for each method based on its current and future potential alignment with each factor. Each method's column of results is bolded in the area of the table associated with this chosen analog. S-DAC, ESA-DAC, and m-DAC align best with solar, while L-DAC pairs best with natural gas power plants based on the criteria evaluated. Based on these results, solar is used as the analog for S-DAC, and natural gas plants are used as the analog for L-DAC for all single-factor LR and IR analyses.

There may be some factors that are listed for one technology in the table that would actually be applicable to another. For example, wind energy also has niche markets that likely supported its cost declines, but it was not cited in the literature as being a driver for cost reductions. The table only includes what could be found for each technology specifically with regard to driving cost reduction.

Figure 4.1 shows the single-factor learning rate for all of the analogs investigated for both L-DAC and S-DAC for reference to demonstrate the full range of these energy technology learning curves on each method. The curve associated with the chosen analog for each DAC method is boxed in yellow within the legend.

	Factor	Category	S- DAC	L- DAC	ESA- DAC	m- DAC
	Strong link to scientific phenomenon	Device	0	0	0	0
	Early convergence on domi- nant design	Device	0	0	0	0
	Development into a standard- ized product	Device	0	LO	0	0
	Openness to technology spillovers	Device	F	Ο	F	F
	Massive units of production	Production	F	LO	F	$\mathbf{F}$
	Automated production suitability	Production	0	LO	0	0
Solar	Tolerance for design compromise	Production	0	0	0	0
	Relatively low entry cost to production market	Production	0	Ο	0	0
	Flexibility of a modular design	Adoption	F	LO	F	F
	Appealing to the public	Adoption	$\mathbf{F}$	Ο	$\mathbf{F}$	$\mathbf{F}$
	Geographically mobile components	Adoption	F	LO	F	F
	Niche markets independent of policy	External Support	F	F	F	F
	Public policy support	External Support	F	F	F	F
	Improved technology	Device	Ο	0	0	0
Wind	Increase in size for economies of scale	Device	0	F	Ο	LO
	High capital-to-opex ratio	Device	LO	LO	LO	LO
	Reduction in cost of technol- ogy financing	Adoption	0	0	Ο	Ο
	Large units of production	Production	F	LO	F	F
	Public policy support	External Support	F	F	F	F

Table 4.1: Summary of full analog analysis for DAC

Continued on next page

	Complex systems with indi- vidualized project costDevice		LO	0	LO	LO
Natural Gas Plants	Standardization of compo- nents for plants	Device	F	0	F	F
	Derived from a combination of mature technologies	Device	LO	F	LO	Ο
	Relatively low capital cost compared to other options	Device	Ο	F	0	Ο
	Long plant lifetime	Device	LO	LO	LO	LO
Hydropower	Site limited technology	Device	LO	LO	LO	LO
	Large variety of plant sizes in use (not unit scalable)	Device/ Production	LO	0	LO	LO
	Mature technology	Adoption	LO	LO	LO	LO
	Government ownership	Adoption	LO	LO	LO	LO
	Construction and operation complexity	Device	LO	LO	LO	LO
Nuclear	Increasing environmental and safety regulations	Adoption	0	0	0	0
	Lack of standardization in reactors	Production	LO	0	LO	LO

Table 4.1: Summary of full analog analysis for DAC (Continued)



Figure 4.1: Comparison of cost reduction estimates using single-factor learning rates across all analogs considered for S-DAC and L-DAC (excluding nuclear)

# 4.2 DAC Cost Reduction Rate Analysis

All plots in this section follow consistent formatting as follows:

- Green coloring Indicates S-DAC cost curve
- Blue coloring Indicates L-DAC cost curve
- Circle markers Indicates learning rate utilized for analysis
- Triangle markers Indicates improvement rate utilized for analysis
- Solid markers Indicates single-factor analysis
- Empty markers Indicates component-based analysis
- 45Q Threshold Indicates the \$165/tonCO<sub>2</sub> threshold at which the cost of DAC reaches the U.S. government tax credit for DACCS (assuming cost of compression, transport, and storage is on average \$15/tonCO<sub>2</sub> [80])

# 4.2.1 Single-Factor Analysis Results

Figure 4.2 shows the projected DAC costs for S-DAC and L-DAC relative to each other and to the 45Q reference point using single-factor learning and improvement rates. The learning and improvement rate curves follow similar trends for both approaches until around 2030 when they start to diverge. Only the improvement rate curves reach the 45Q threshold by 2050 for each DAC method. L-DAC reaches the threshold in 2034, while S-DAC reaches it six years later. The learning rate curves are much shallower after the 2030 diversion point, with S-DAC hovering around  $300/tonCO_2$  beyond 2040 and L-DAC flattening to about  $200/tonCO_2$ .

# 4.2.2 Component-Based Analysis Results

The results from the component learning and improvement rate analyses can be seen in Figure 4.3. Figures 4.4 and 4.5 show the cost breakdown across the years of study at a component level for the learning rate curves as reference for how these curves were built. For the full breakdown of the component-level analysis and how these curves were created, see Appendix A.

Much like the single-factor analysis, the improvement and learning rate curves follow similar trends for a few years before diverging. However, the point of divergence is 3-4 years earlier than with the single-factor rate estimates. Again, only the improvement rate curves reach the 45Q threshold. Here, L-DAC reaches the threshold about a year later than predicted using single-factor rates, while S-DAC reaches it at about the same time. The declines for the learning rate curves using component analysis are overall more shallow than the single-factor, particularly for L-DAC.



Figure 4.2: Comparison of cost reduction estimates using single-factor learning rates versus improvement rates for S-DAC and L-DAC



Figure 4.3: Comparison of cost reduction estimates using component learning rates versus improvement rates for S-DAC and L-DAC



Figure 4.4: Cost breakdown by components for S-DAC learning rate component analysis



Figure 4.5: Cost breakdown by components for L-DAC learning rate component analysis

# 4.2.3 Base Results Comparison by DAC Method

This section shows the same information as Sections 4.2.1 and 4.2.2, just in an alternate view that enables a better comparison of cost reduction using base case assumptions by DAC method. Figure 4.6 shows the results for S-DAC, and Figure 4.7 shows the same for L-DAC. Table 4.2 shows the year each curve crosses  $200/tonCO_2$  and the 45Q threshold for all curves investigated in the base case.

Viewing the information in this way emphasizes the alignment of all estimation approaches for the first several years. It also emphasizes that in most cases, the single-factor approach is more optimistic than the component-based approach. The exception to this is the improvement rate analyses for S-DAC. Here, the component analysis shows a faster decline than the single-factor approach. This difference in behavior will be discussed further in Chapter 5.

		S	-DAC	L	-DAC
Scenario	Approach	$200/tCO_2$	45Q Threshold	$200/tCO_2$	45Q Threshold
One-Factor	LR	-	-	2041	-
Component	LR	-	-	-	-
One-Factor	$\operatorname{IR}$	2039	2041	2032	2034
Component	IR	2038	2040	2033	2037

Table 4.2: Summary of base cost reduction results, showing when  $200/tCO_2$  and 45Q threshold are reached



#### S-DAC Method Comparison

Figure 4.6: Comparison of cost reduction estimates for S-DAC using base case assumptions across all analysis approaches



Figure 4.7: Comparison of cost reduction estimates for L-DAC using base case assumptions across all analysis approaches

# 4.3 Sensitivities

Two overarching sensitivity sets of cases were investigated. The first uses the alternate DAC scale-up scenarios introduced in Section 3.2.2, showing how these alternate growth rates impact the timing of reaching the 45Q threshold introduced in Section 4.2. The second explores how varying the learning and improvement rate ranges beyond the base assumptions impacts this timing, as there is variability in the literature regarding the most appropriate rate to use for each analog.

# 4.3.1 Sensitivity to DAC Scale-Up Scenarios

This set of sensitivity cases helps demonstrate the cost curve response to varying the DAC scale-up rate for the experience curve analyses due to the high uncertainty of the scale-up rate. Figure 4.8 shows the results for S-DAC and Figure 4.9 for L-DAC. Both are shown at 5-year increments for readability.

Within these sensitivity cases, Base is the only case that does not reach  $200/\text{tonCO}_2$  by 2050. Base and the IEA WEO STEPS case are the only cases that don't reach the 45Q threshold by this time. The Solar Scale-Up case shows a very rapid decline compared to the other cases, reaching the 45Q threshold sometime between 2030 and 2035. The remaining cases reach the threshold ranging from 2039 to 2050.

L-DAC shows a similar story but varies in a few key places. First, its Natural Gas Scale-Up case is the most conservative case in the set, ending nowhere near the 45Q threshold by 2050. Other than Base and NG Scale-Up, all sensitivities reach the 45Q threshold by 2050,



S-DAC Sensitivity to Scale-Up Forecast

Figure 4.8: Impact of alternate S-DAC experience growth rates on cost decline compared to base single-factor learning rate result

with most reaching it by 2040. By 2050, all cases other than NG Scale-Up are in the range of  $100/tonCO_2$ .

# 4.3.2 Sensitivity to Learning and Improvement Rate Ranges

This sensitivity assessment helps illustrate the variability of outcomes depending on the analog learning and improvement rates used from the literature. Figure 4.10 shows the results for S-DAC and Figure 4.11 for L-DAC. Table 4.3 shows the range of rates used for each analysis.

The range of learning and improvement rates seen in the literature is broad, and therefore the results of this sensitivity assessment are wide. For both DAC methods, improvement rates continue to show much steeper declines than learning rates on both ends of the range. The High IR cases are both well below  $50/tonCO_2$  by 2050. Beyond those, only Base IR and the High LR cases dip below the 45Q threshold for S-DAC. For L-DAC, in addition to those cases, the Low IR case also reaches the 45Q threshold by 2050.

Analog	Approach Average		Ra	Sourco	
Analog	Approach	Average	Low	High	Source
Solar	LR	23%	15%	35%	[89]
Solar	IR	9%	4%	14%	[5]
Natural Cas Plant	LR	14%	10%	24%	[89]
Natural Gas Plant	IR	7%	3%	13%	[95]

Table 4.3: Range of learning and improvement rates used for sensitivity analysis



L-DAC Sensitivity to Scale-Up Forecast

Figure 4.9: Impact of alternate L-DAC experience growth rates on cost decline compared to base single-factor learning rate result

### 4.3.3 Summary

Table 4.5 summarizes the timing for reaching the key thresholds for each method across all scenarios considered. Finally, Figures 4.12 and 4.13 are summary plots that show the range of outcomes for both DAC methods.

S-DAC exhibits a 76% variance to the single-factor base case for the scale-up rate sensitivities. The variance is much higher for the analog rate sensitivities at 132%. Given the unreliability of IR calculations over this length of time, these were removed from the set resulting in a variance of 90% for the analog rate sensitivities. Similarly, the analog scale-up case can be removed from the scale-up sensitivity set as an extreme outlier, resulting in a variance of 35%.

Variance to the base case is generally less high for L-DAC than for S-DAC. Compared directly without removing any cases, the scale-up sensitivity set shows a variance of 89% and the analog rate set shows a variance of 105%. Once corrected for the concerns discussed in the S-DAC section, the scale-up sensitivity set shows a variance of 26% and the analog rate set 53%. This is summarized in Table 4.4.

Overall, both DAC methods are more sensitive to the analog rate used than to the scaleup rate. S-DAC is more sensitive to both scale-up rate and analog rate than L-DAC, which would be expected given its steeper declines.



S-DAC Sensitivity to Analog Rate Ranges

Figure 4.10: Impact of varying S-DAC analog (solar) learning and improvement rates across range from literature



L-DAC Sensitivity to Analog Rate Ranges

Figure 4.11: Impact of varying L-DAC analog (natural gas plants) learning and improvement rates across range from literature

	S-DAC		L-DAC		
	Scale-up	Analog rate	Scale-up	Analog rate	
Sensitivity to baseline	76%	132%	89%	105%	
Sensitivity with outliers removed	35%	90%	26%	53%	

Table 4.4: Variance of sensitivity sets to single-factor base case



Figure 4.12: Summary plot showing the range of sensitivity to scale-up rate for both DAC methods



### Range of Sensitivity to Analog Rates

Figure 4.13: Summary plot showing the range of sensitivity to analog rate utilized for both DAC methods

		S-DAC		L-DAC	
Scenario	Approach	$200/tCO_2$	45Q Threshold	$200/tCO_2$	45Q Threshold
Base One-Factor	LR	-	-	2041	-
Base Component	LR	-	-	-	-
Base One-Factor	$\operatorname{IR}$	2039	2041	2032	2034
Base Component	IR	2038	2040	2033	2037
Analog Scale-Up	LR	2032	2034	-	-
IEA All Projects	LR	2041	-	2029	2036
IPCC AR6	LR	2037	2039	2033	2035
IEA WEO STEPS	LR	2050	-	2037	2046
IEA WEO NZE	LR	2045	-	2032	2040
Base Low LR	LR	-	-	-	-
Base Low IR	$\operatorname{IR}$	-	-	2041	2048
Base High LR	LR	2039	2044	2029	2033
Base High iR	IR	2034	2035	2038	2030

Table 4.5: Summary of all cost reduction results, including sensitivities

# Chapter 5

# **Discussion of Results**

This chapter discusses the results of the analysis and the key findings in the context of the research questions from Section 1.3:

- 1. The IPCC estimates needing 2.8 (0.5-11 range)  $GtCO_2/yr$  of non-conventional carbon removal by 2050, but current removal rates are well below this. If DAC adoption and cost reduction behave similarly to solar PV or other analogous technologies, what contribution can it realistically expect to make to the CO<sub>2</sub> removal portfolio?
  - (a) How might scale-up rate and cost reduction vary by DAC method?
  - (b) What does the literature identify as the key drivers for analogous technology learning and improvement, and how do those compare to the various DAC methods?
  - (c) What role are the public and private sectors currently playing in advancing the DAC market, and how does this compare to analogs?
- 2. Based on the answers to Question 1, what actions could be taken in the near term regarding DAC by governments, DAC providers, and DAC purchasers to help accelerate the reduction of DAC costs?

# 5.1 Cost Reduction Analysis

The results in Section 4.2 and 4.3 help shed light on scale-up rate and cost reduction variances across DAC methods from Research Question 1a. As shown in the results, the rate of cost reductions varied drastically across DAC methods. This is expected given the difference in analogs used for the learning and improvement rates. It emphasizes the importance of carefully considering which DAC method is being investigated when using technological change analysis. Ideally, these analyses would focus on either S-DAC or L-DAC (or some other specific method once these reach the commercialization phase), but if an industry-wide analysis is undergone, careful consideration should be given to the appropriate learning or improvement rate to choose.

In Section 4.2, it was noted that using this baseline scale-up rate for the learning curves did not result in reaching the 45Q threshold across DAC methods. This suggests that if

projects are not accelerated beyond the rate of scale-up projected by the IEA's Advanced Development scenario, DAC may struggle to reach a price that would be fully offset by current U.S. government tax credits by 2050, regardless of method. This is not inherently surprising, as it was noted when choosing this scale-up estimate as the baseline that it was fairly conservative. However, it does indicate that even if DAC does not scale up as quickly as often forecasted, it may still come down the cost curve far enough to compete with hard-to-abate emission mitigation options by 2050 if the cost of those mitigations is above  $300/tonCO_2$ .

The sensitivities investigated with alternate scale-up rates shed light on potentially less pessimistic cost reduction outcomes compared to the baseline. Almost all of these sensitivities across DAC methods reach  $200/\text{tonCO}_2$  by 2050. This makes sense since three out of five of the sensitivities are goal-derived forecasts of what will be needed rather than projections of what projects are actually in the queue. However, the IEA full project queue shows costs at or below the 45Q threshold for both DAC methods by 2050, indicating that if projects proceed as projected, costs may be in range for full tax credit offset in the U.S. by midcentury. It is also worth noting that the IEA WEO STEPS scenario also dips below  $200/\text{tonCO}_2$  for both methods by this date, so if countries stick to their commitments, the cost could be reasonably competitive with other CDR and mitigation options by 2050.

In Section 4.3.3, it is noted that both DAC methods investigated were more sensitive to the analog rate used than to the scale-up rates. The range of learning rates across the literature for both methods was fairly wide to begin with, so this is not necessarily an unexpected result. It emphasizes the importance of choosing the appropriate analog as a first step for any analysis using learning rates, then the importance of selecting the appropriate learning rate for that analog from the literature. This would be especially important for technologies using a higher learning rate, like S-DAC, since the impacts of this choice are amplified at higher decline rates.

While the DAC methods were more sensitive to the analog rate use, there was also significant sensitivity to the scale-up rates. The base scale-up rate was chosen since it had the highest level of confidence compared to the other options, but given the high level of sensitivity to the scale-up rates, the results of the study would likely look quite different with a different base scale-up rate. If DAC can scale closer to any of the sensitivity rates based on projections or goal-derived, there is a much higher likelihood of reaching the  $200/tonCO_2$  and 45Q thresholds before mid-century. It is noting that the compounding impact of an alternate scale-up rate alongside an alternate learning rate for the analogs was not considered for this analysis.

Given the high levels of sensitivity for both DAC methods across the sensitivity cases investigated, it is worth considering what additional data might help narrow these ranges. Higher confidence projections will likely become available for scale-up rate once the first commercial L-DAC plant begins operating in 2024. The IEA is tracking announced project capacities expected, but this is a space that perhaps an organization like the DAC Coalition could follow at a more granular level, perhaps by DAC method, to help understand this for future studies. The range of learning rates for each analog across the literature could potentially be narrowed by looking for outliers in the range and understanding if they are appropriate to include or not. Much of this range narrowing would be accomplished by focusing a study directly on this for each analog. Within the scale-up rate sensitivity cases, the analog scale-up scenarios stand out as clear outliers. The solar scale-up scenario for S-DAC shows a drastic reduction in costs, while the natural gas scale-up scenario for L-DAC shows hardly any cost reduction over the 25-year period. The extreme results from both of these cases call into question their validity for use in the analysis.

In general, the improvement rate analyses result in much lower costs by 2050 compared to the learning rate analyses. As discussed in Section 2.3, these two technological change approaches are equivalent when the scale-up rate for a technology experiences exponential growth. Since that is not the case for the baseline scale-up rate used, it follows that the two approaches would experience different cost reduction rates. Based on the study from Nagy et al. comparing across approaches, the learning rate analyses would provide a higher level of confidence for a 25-year study such as this [79].

Overall, the analysis supports the hypothesis that there is value in considering each method of DAC separately for both choosing the analogs used in the analog analysis and for the cost reduction analysis itself. The large variance reported in the literature for the initial costs of each DAC method further supports considering the two separately. To address the specific research question, scale-up may overall occur at a similar rate for S-DAC and L-DAC, but the cost reduction pathways were found to vary drastically across the two DAC methods.

### 5.1.1 S-DAC

Despite initial costs that are almost double the initial estimates for L-DAC, the focus on modularity and scalability for S-DAC results in rapid cost reductions. This rapid decline leads to potentially similar costs between the two DAC methods by 2050, assuming similar scale-up rates.

Because of the high initial costs for S-DAC, this DAC method relies on behaving similarly to solar PV in its technological change process to reach costs that are competitive with L-DAC. If S-DAC is unable to follow the scalability path of solar PV and instead finds itself closer to a different analog, such as its second closest analog, wind energy, it may be difficult to reach competitive cost thresholds. Several of the items listed as opportunities, or "O", in Table 4.1 highlight these risks. If S-DAC is unable to achieve the production economies of scale and automation that were so critical to solar PV cost reductions, it may find itself more similar to wind energy as an analog. This scenario could be caused by a lack of standardization of the product for installation, labor training, and integration purposes or if the domain does not on a dominant design to make it worth creating these large production facilities. If this were to occur, cost reductions may look more similar to the Low LR Analog Rate sensitivity case since the 15% LR it used is close to the 12% LR of wind energy from the literature.

The range of 2050 cost results for the scale-up sensitivities, excluding the solar scale-up rate, of about  $100-300/tonCO_2$  is very consistent with the range estimated by Fuss et al. for *n*th plants costs [31]. This provides confidence in the results of the analysis.

# 5.1.2 L-DAC

Since it starts at a much lower initial cost than S-DAC, L-DAC is less dependent on learningby-doing for reaching competitive cost thresholds. The focus of this method is more on economies of scale rather than learning-by-doing, which explains the lower initial cost and slower learning rate. This is very consistent with its analog, the natural gas power plant.

There is a key concern with these results to keep top of mind, however. Since actual commercial costs are not yet available, the average cost across several sources has been used for the analysis, as described in Section 3.2.1. If actual costs end up being much higher than this average, this DAC method may struggle to reach a competitive cost by mid-century. This is a real concern since, as discussed in Section 2.3.1, the pre-learning phase for new technologies often has escalating prices before learning begins.

# 5.2 Implications of Architectural Decisions on Cost Reduction Behavior

The combination of findings from Section 3.2.4 and the results in Section 4.1 help answer Research Question 1b. Section 3.2.4 provides a direct answer to the question of what are the key drivers for technological change of analogous technologies, while Section 4.1 addresses how those analogs compare to DAC methods. The answers to these questions can help provide insight into the impacts of early architectural decisions across the DAC methods to how each may see cost reductions over time.

The analog analysis from Section 4.1 showed that S-DAC, m-DAC, and ESA-DAC are all on a very different trajectory from an analog perspective compared to L-DAC. While solar had many drivers for its scale-up and cost reduction path identified, the following are three specific to design choices made by the companies developing it. Shown alongside each are the associated factors from Table 3.3 that were enabled by the decision:

- Standardization Early convergence on dominant design; development into a standardized product; massive units of manufacturing production; automated production suitability
- Modularity Openness to technology spillovers; flexibility of modular design; geographically mobile components
- Design compromise Tolerance for design compromise

Standardization and convergence on a common design is an area of opportunity for S-DAC over the next several years. These can enable the massive units of manufacturing production and automation that were so beneficial to solar PV cost reductions. However, S-DAC has a multitude of designs across companies currently, which cannot be manufactured at a large scale. As certain designs emerge as successes within the S-DAC industry, quick convergence on a design may help drive costs down at an industry level. As pilot designs have not yet emerged for m-DAC and ESA-DAC, this is less immediately important for their consideration, but it is something to keep in mind if these methods mature.

Modularity is a design choice that is referenced regularly by S-DAC and ESA-DAC and has been mentioned for m-DAC. This is the characteristic most associated with quick learning for this technology. The openness to knowledge spillovers from other technologies and flexibility of modular design for learning with each iteration is of particular focus. Companies also seem to have a focus on keeping components easy to ship for global mobility, like Climeworks' design to have six of their modular units fit into one shipping container [84].

Tolerance for design compromise was one opportunity that was not seen in the literature and across company websites for S-DAC providers. Depending on the needs of the storage method used by the provider, there may be an opportunity to adjust designs for the S-DAC system in the future to allow for this if it helps reduce costs. This may also be something to consider in the development of either of the two less mature methods.

The factors driving natural gas plant cost trends in the literature can also provide insights for L-DAC plant design, showing where providers could alter the early design and project planning to potentially see higher learning and improvement rates than seen by natural gas plants. The companies pursuing this method are focused on economies of scale for  $CO_2$ removal by building large continuously running DAC plants. However, the standardization of components within the plants and standardization of the design of the plants could help see the manufacturing economy of scale that was noted as a key driver for solar PV cost reductions for components within the plants. A focus on systems engineering in the plant design stage could also help avoid unnecessary complexities with such a large system.

The factors across the technologies studied for the analog analysis are a combination of direct drivers that could be explicitly modeled and qualitative arguments that would be difficult to prove with a model, particularly in the case of solar PV. This makes comparing how well-aligned the DAC methods align with their analog on particular factors difficult. For example, time to converge on a dominant design is something that could be put into a model and compared across technologies, but "openness to technology spillovers" would be difficult to assign an actual metric to. Because of this, the analog analysis itself is quite qualitative and based on consistent themes for technologies more than numerical evaluation. A study focused on a more numerical evaluation could be pursued by assigning metrics to each factor to try and estimate how each compares across technologies, but it may be unable to incorporate some of these more qualitative factors that were impactful to a technology like solar PV.

Many of the factors within the table are assumed to be independent since they are listed as independent factors but are, in fact, potentially quite intertwined. For example, early convergence on a dominant design in solar PV made developing standards across products much simpler. It also helped drastically with massive units of production, which made it worth the time it would take to invest in automating that same production. Policy support in the U.S. through R&D and public procurement carried solar production for several years until policies changed, at which point the niche market in Japan picked up the development of the product until policy in Germany drove huge manufacturing growth. It is the connected system of all of these factors that enabled the technology to scale as it did, rather than each item independently. [82]

This interconnectedness of factors is especially true with solar PV but is also true for the other analogs considered. For example, an increase in the size of windmills to allow for economies of scale drives capital-to-opex ratios higher than they would otherwise be. Because hydropower is site limited based on existing bodies of water, it drives plant sizes to vary significantly in size to match the resource at each site. It is important for DAC providers to keep these interconnections in mind when developing the product rather than just focusing on one or two factors to try and mimic.

One key takeaway from the analog study is the misalignment of L-DAC with solar as an analog at a high level. While it could take learnings from solar PV's cost reduction path to improve beyond natural gas learning rates, it is not a suitable overall analog. The DAC industry as a whole did not have a common analog applicable to all methods due to the very different paths the two mature methods are intentionally pursuing. The less mature methods still have time for architectural decision changes as they approach pilot and commercial phases of development if they see that one pathway is more successful or more aligned with their goals.

# 5.3 Public and Private Sector Influence

While the estimations of cost reductions for DAC are important for understanding the future of the technology, it is also important to consider how these scale-up and cost reduction predictions interact with the larger DAC market ecosystem. The current involvement of the public and private sectors in the DAC market is introduced in Section 2.2.4. This section will provide extra discussion relevant to the results that together work to answer Research Question 1c.

Over the last three years, governments across the world have become more active in carbon removal support and direct air capture, as described in Section 2.2.4. Policies that mimic some that were particularly influential for solar have started to emerge. Nemet identifies early-stage procurement in the U.S. from the U.S. Block Buy program in the 1970s and 1980s as one of the key catalysts in developing the manufacturing and production processes that were instrumental to solar PV's scale-up and cost reductions [82]. While no direct procurement policies are currently in place for DAC, many of the competition and prizes for funding in place in the U.S. today could have similar effects on DAC, particularly the DAC hub program.

The private sector is also playing a particularly active role in the DAC ecosystem despite the very high costs associated with carbon removal using DAC available today. As discussed in Section 2.2.4, there is a significant amount of investment in the technology directly, both through advance market commitments and through advance purchases of carbon removal by a variety of companies across a spectrum of industries and sizes. Motivations for these purchases are not well documented, but potential motivations can be identified. Many companies have goals of reaching net zero emissions by a certain date and may want to start building relationships with CDR providers that have proven, durable, measurable techniques for removal, as referenced by Stripe [85] and Microsoft [18] in their Climeworks press releases. As several of the companies making these early investments are tech companies, part of the motivation may also come from branding as being forward-thinking, technology-focused companies, which aligns well with the DAC technology.

DAC with utilization is also providing a connection between DAC consumers and DAC providers at present. While not discussed heavily in this thesis, these niche applications of

DAC technology for the creation of products beyond carbon removal help to lower the overall cost of DAC processes until DAC carbon removal as a service is more accessible to a larger group of consumers. This is consistent with what was seen in the scale-up and cost-reduction path of solar PV, where niche applications were found for a product due to its scalability and flexibility until the ultimate goal could be reached.

# 5.4 Acceleration Considerations for Key Stakeholders

Learnings from Sections 5.1 and 5.2 can be combined to help address Research Question 2. Table 4.1 shows a number of opportunities for each DAC method to align closer with a desired analog cost reduction behavior, indicated in the table with a yellow box and the letter "O". Many of these are architectural decisions as discussed in Section 5.2, but others can be controlled beyond these initial product design choices by various stakeholders in the DAC ecosystem.

# 5.4.1 DAC Providers

Many of the options available to the DAC companies regarding the product they are pursuing are specific to early design choices discussed in Section 5.2. However, there are additional actions DAC providers can consider pursuing to accelerate momentum toward cost reductions.

One of these actions is community engagement, both in the local areas companies plan to operate in and in the larger political systems of countries where they operate. Concerns could arise within communities locally when DAC plants are being planned for an area including but not limited to low levels of  $CO_2$  on ecosystems near the facilities, water usage by the facility depending on the DAC method used by the plant, or pipelines associated with transporting the captured  $CO_2$  to storage locations. By listening to community concerns and needs early, DAC providers can integrate them into project designs early on. Expanding general awareness and understanding of the technology and its risks can help build trust and relationships within the community. Smith et al. found in their review of public perceptions of CDR that general awareness is low and awareness of novel techniques like DAC is even lower [96], providing an opportunity for the industry to educate the public. This action would support the "appealing to the public" factor described in the solar PV cost reduction drivers table and would benefit any DAC method, regardless of if it was found to be analogous to solar PV. For concerns like low levels of  $CO_2$  on the surrounding area, DAC providers could work with universities or third parties in advance to study these impacts if limited research is available.

Another action that could be taken by DAC providers is early collaboration across companies to find opportunities for standardization of system components. Despite the lack of convergence on a common design, there may be similar parts or inputs across technologies that could allow for early acceleration of manufacturing scaling. The sorbent for S-DAC, in particular, makes up a significant portion of the system cost. If more providers use a common sorbent, economies of scale in manufacturing that material could be very impactful. Further, this could be an area to look for opportunities for small efficiency losses that lead to high-cost reductions, perhaps in the purity or performance expectations of the sorbent. For example, if the sorbent could be produced at much lower costs by lowering its life expectations, the additional cost from buying it more frequently could be offset by the overall lower cost, especially since this could then drive larger economies of scale in its production.

While they are not directly DAC providers, organizations like the DAC coalition could play an important role in driving some of these behaviors within the DAC provider community. They could work to organize all of the players to find these opportunities for crosscompany alignment on a sorbent or acceptable efficiency-cost tradeoffs. They could also organize studies to better understand the impacts of pursuing these types of ideas, whether with universities or third-party contractors, without bias to any one DAC method. Participation of DAC providers in industry-wide conferences like the DAC Summit can enable knowledge transfer and relationship building within the community as well.

### 5.4.2 DAC Buyers

Companies and individuals within the private sector may have more influence in the scaleup of these DAC methods than one would initially think. As discussed in Section 5.3, many companies are taking an active role early on in the DAC market. As motivations for participating in the market may vary across company strategies, desired outcomes may vary as well.

Regardless of the motivation behind investing in DAC at a high cost, there are some actions that make sense for buyers to consider across the board. One such action is to focus on purchases with companies that can provide a clear roadmap of how their DAC method will be lowered to achieve more accessible costs long-term. Frontier is a good example of a purchaser with this behavior, so it is apparent to any company hoping to sell carbon removal exactly what requirements must be met [28]. This can drive DAC supplier behavior to create clear plans for how their method will reduce costs over time.

### 5.4.3 Governments and Policymakers

There is a large amount of literature available proposing actions governments should take to address climate change, ranging from the commonly suggested global carbon tax to detailed local-level policies. This level of policy analysis is outside the scope of this thesis. However, there are a couple of policy suggestions that are supported by the analysis completed.

One action the public sector could take to accelerate the scale-up and cost reduction of DAC specifically is carbon removal procurement based on the example of solar PV. This would directly influence the scale-up of the technology by ensuring demand within a given time period, budget, or capacity allocation. The value of this action is dependent on the continuity of policy, however, which can create a risk to companies that may have stranded assets if the political atmosphere changes.

Another concern with this approach is that a policy like this inherently "picks favorites", which can lead to poor overall market outcomes. If the policy was expanded to include all CDR techniques, DAC and other emerging novel CDR techniques may no longer compete on a cost basis [47]. With that in mind, one impactful near-term action policymakers could take is to work with experts at an international level to develop robust MRV and accounting
standards for use across CDR techniques, as recommended by Smith et al. in the 2023 State of CDR report [96]. Development of these standards may be less susceptible to political discontinuities.

The main levers the U.S. government is currently taking toward direct air capture are competitive funding programs and subsidies through the 45Q tax credit. The competitive funding programs include both the DAC Hubs program and the DAC Prize discussed in Section 2.2.4. Given DAC's current immaturity, these programs could be a useful way to spur innovation across methods and provide young companies with the funds to advance their systems. By creating four full regional hubs, the government is assisting in creating the infrastructure associated with DAC at a large scale, which might be difficult for startups to accomplish on their own at the scale needed. This is a challenge that an analog like solar PV didn't face since the main infrastructure it needed to tie into was the power grid. Through these massive projects, supply chain systems may emerge that could drive down production costs across DAC methods if the development of the hubs is planned with this in mind.

What the competitive programs lack, however, is the full power of procurement policies that guarantee a market for the technology after the competition ends. If these programs accelerate enough scale-up to bring the DAC methods down the cost curve close enough to the 45Q tax credit, the LCFS trading credits, or a combination of the two, these may be enough to sustain the market alongside private purchases. It also inherently creates competition amongst DAC providers, which could lead to less knowledge sharing across companies and potentially impede technological learning at a domain level. Given the urgent need for cost reductions, though, this innovation-stimulating approach could be a useful policy lever overall.

#### 5.5 Generalization of Results

This study has been specifically designed for DAC. However, there are some takeaways that could be useful for future studies. One such finding is the importance of considering if multiple methods under the same generalization merit separate analyses when using learning or improvement curves, as found for S-DAC and L-DAC for DAC technology. Another is the value in comparing across multiple analysis approaches when using learning or improvement curves. Cross-comparison can provide additional confidence in the results as inputs often come from a larger variety of sources.

In comparison to other studies focused on the eventual cost of DAC, the cost ranges found for S-DAC and L-DAC in 2050 are within the range seen in the literature (see Section 2.2.5. Across the learning rate analyses (excluding the analog scale-up scenarios), this study found a range of about 100-400/100 for S-DAC and a range of 100-220/100 for L-DAC. A much wider range was seen for both methods using improvement rates, but given the 25year timeframe, improvement rate analysis results are less reliable in 2050. The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine report a range of 89-407/1000 net for S-DAC and 156-506/1000 for L-DAC [80].

One reason for the difference in L-DAC ranges between that study and this is their inclusion of a case where hydrogen is used for thermal energy and another where coal is the electricity source, which increases the high-end estimate from  $3357/tonCO_2$  to  $506/tonCO_2$ .

The range is still on average higher for L-DAC, though, more in line with the sensitivity that considered L-DAC scale-up to be in line with natural gas scale-up, which predicted a 2050 cost of  $279/tonCO_2$ . The analog scale-up sensitivity cases were deemed too extreme and removed from the range, but perhaps in the case of L-DAC at least they should be considered.

### 5.6 Limitations of This Study

Certain limitations should be considered when reviewing this analysis.

As discussed in Section 2.3.1, many experts note that one-factor learning rate analyses are potentially an oversimplification and do not take into account the underlying drivers of cost reductions. This analysis makes heavy use of one-factor learning rates, particularly in the sensitivities considered. There was an attempt to address this by including the decomposition analyses. However, many of the same analogs were used at the component level as the onefactor level due to data availability. A future improvement could be expanding the component analyses to include sensitivities if enough reliable analog data could be gathered.

To build on that, ideally, a full analog study would have been completed for each component of the decomposition analysis. However, this was unrealistic, given time constraints and data availability. This could be another future improvement to the study.

Other limitations involve simplifications that were made on inputs for the analysis. One such shortcoming is that compression, transportation, and storage costs are assumed to be fixed at  $15/\text{tonCO}_2$ . Given the level of uncertainty for these costs, the timing of meeting the cost thresholds discussed in this thesis could be impacted. It has also been noted by experts that the sequestration portion of this process, in particular, could become a bottleneck for CCUS and DAC deployment due to predicted slow improvement rates [95], which has not been accounted for in this study.

One final caveat for this study is regarding cost versus price. This has already been discussed in Section 3.2.1 but is worth reiterating. Initial costs for S-DAC are truly initial prices since the carbon removal price from Stripe's purchase is the reference point. From a cost-to-operate perspective, the cost thresholds may be reached faster than indicated in the results since some margin is likely included in this initial price.

# Chapter 6

## **Conclusions and Future Work**

This study demonstrates the value of considering the different DAC methods separately when considering initial and eventual cost estimates. It begins by describing why carbon removal and direct air capture are important in the efforts to limit climate change and ground the study with research questions of interest in the Introduction chapter. The Literature Review provides relevant context for CDR, DAC, and technological change theory. The framework and inputs for the analysis are laid out in the Method and Framework chapter and results are displayed in the following chapter. Finally, these results are discussed and the research questions are examined for insights from the study in the Discussion chapter. This chapter will provide conclusions for the analysis and outline opportunities for future work.

This study found a range of about  $100-400/tonCO_2$  for S-DAC and  $100-220/tonCO_2$  for L-DAC using learning curves across a variety of scenarios. This range is within the ranges seen across the literature. It further supports the growing body of work that shows DAC is capable of reaching costs that would compete with other CDR techniques and hard-to-abate mitigation costs.

Through a comprehensive exploration of outcomes using both single-factor and componentbased approaches for learning and improvement curves, a deeper understanding of the potential range of cost reductions by 2050 emerges, surpassing the insights gained from a singular approach. Learning curve results were deemed the most reliable among these approaches for the 25-year window studied, but consistency across the learning and improvement rate analyses in the early time periods of the analysis supports the findings of Nagy et al. in their study comparing the two approaches [79]. Limitations to the approaches used do exist, however, and should be considered.

This study can be a building block for future work in this field. Once the less mature DAC methods reach the pilot and commercialization stage, the analog assessment from this study can help build learning or improvement rate analyses. Further, a patent analysis specifically for DAC could be performed to see how improvement rate predictions at an industry level compare to the S-DAC and L-DAC predictions. Once actual the first commercial L-DAC plant comes online, it would also be prudent to rerun the L-DAC portion of the cost reduction analysis with actual initial L-DAC costs rather than detailed estimates.

The final takeaway from this study to reiterate is the suite of actions described for the major stakeholders in the DAC ecosystem to help accelerate scale-up and cost reduction. Policymakers can provide impact by developing standards for MRV and accounting in CDR.

The private sector can set clear requirements for carbon removal purchases, focused on purchasing proven, durable, measurable techniques that, in the case of DAC, can provide clear paths for cost reduction to more accessible levels. Finally, DAC providers themselves can focus on early design choices that enable cost reductions and work together towards economies of scale in manufacturing.

To meet the Paris Temperature Goals, the world will need a suite of CDR techniques available by mid-century. Direct air capture is a promising option, if it can scale and reduce costs at rates fast enough to meet demand. This thesis suggests this is achievable with both mature DAC methods and provides additional levers stakeholders can utilize to accelerate this goal.

# Appendix A Decomposition Analysis Details

This appendix includes the component-level cost breakdown for the curves found in Section 4.2.2. The LR & IR used for each component and the corresponding analog can be found in Tables A.1 and A.2. Components marked as "Minimal" in the analog column indicate that minimal learning is expected due to this already being a mature component. Analogs are based on the author's best judgment from available data.

The resulting cost breakdown for each DAC method by approach can be found in Figures A.1 and A.2 for S-DAC and Figures A.3 and A.4 for L-DAC.

		LR Analysis			IR Analysis			
	Component	Analog	LR	Source	Analog	IR	Source	
CAPEX	Adsorbent	Solar	23%	[89]	Adsorption IR	12%	[95]	
	Blower	Minimal	1%	-	Minimal	1%	-	
	Vacuum Pump	Minimal	1%	-	Minimal	1%	-	
	Condenser	Minimal	1%	-	Minimal	1%	-	
	Contactor	Solar	23%	[89]	Solar	9%	[5]	
OPEX	Adsorption	Solar	23%	[89]	Adsorption IR	12%	[95]	
	Steam	Minimal	1%	-	Minimal	1%	-	
	Vacuum Pump	Minimal	1%	-	Minimal	1%	-	
Offset	Generated CO2	Solar	23%	[89]	IGCC+CCS	7%	$\left[95\right]$	

Table A.1: Learning and improvement rates used for S-DAC component analysis



Figure A.1: Cost breakdown at the component level for S-DAC learning rate component analysis



Figure A.2: Cost breakdown at the component level for S-DAC improvement rate component analysis

		LR Analysis			IR Analysis		
	Component	Analog	LR	Source	Analog	IR	Source
CAPEX	Contactor Array	NG (CAPEX)	10%	[90]	NGCC	7%	[5]
	ASU&C	NG (CAPEX)	10%	[90]	NGCC	7%	[5]
	SCC	NG (CAPEX)	10%	[90]	NGCC	7%	[5]
	OF Calciner	NG (CAPEX)	10%	[90]	NGCC	7%	[5]
OPEX	Maintenance	NG (OPEX)	6%	[90]	Minimal	1%	-
	Labor	Minimal	1%	-	Minimal	1%	-
	Makeup & WR	Minimal	1%	-	Minimal	1%	-
	Electricity	Minimal	1%	-	Minimal	1%	-
	Thermal Energy	NG (OPEX)	6%	[90]	NGCC	8%	-
Offset	Generated CO2	NG (OPEX)	6%	[90]	IGCC+CCS	7%	[95]

Table A.2: Learning and improvement rates used for L-DAC component analysis



Figure A.3: Cost breakdown at the component level for L-DAC learning rate component analysis



Figure A.4: Cost breakdown at the component level for L-DAC improvement rate component analysis

## References

- Y. Abdullatif, A. Sodiq, N. Mir, Y. Bicer, T. Al-Ansari, M. H. El-Naas, and A. I. Amhamed, "Emerging trends in direct air capture of CO 2 : A review of technology options targeting net-zero emissions," en, *RSC Advances*, vol. 13, no. 9, pp. 5687–5722, 2023, Publisher: Royal Society of Chemistry. DOI: 10.1039/D2RA07940B. [Online]. Available: https://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlelanding/2023/ra/d2ra07940b (visited on 06/19/2023).
- S. Athey, R. Glennerster, N. Ransohoff, and C. Snyder, Advance Market Commitments Worked for Vaccines. They Could Work for Carbon Removal, Too. en, Dec. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.politico.com/news/agenda/2021/12/22/carbon-removal-advancemarket-commitments-525988 (visited on 08/01/2023).
- H. Azarabadi, T. Baker, A. Dewar, R. Lesser, K. Mistry, O. Owolabi, K. Phillips, C. Pieper, B. Sudmeijer, and D. Webb, *Shifting the Direct Air Capture Paradigm*, en, Jun. 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.bcg.com/publications/2023/solvingdirect-air-carbon-capture-challenge (visited on 06/19/2023).
- [4] H. Azarabadi and K. S. Lackner, "Postcombustion Capture or Direct Air Capture in Decarbonizing US Natural Gas Power?" *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 54, no. 8, pp. 5102–5111, Apr. 2020, Publisher: American Chemical Society, ISSN: 0013-936X. DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.0c00161. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c00161 (visited on 06/24/2023).
- C. L. Benson and C. L. Magee, "On improvement rates for renewable energy technologies: Solar PV, wind turbines, capacitors, and batteries," en, *Renewable Energy*, vol. 68, pp. 745–751, Aug. 2014, ISSN: 0960-1481. DOI: 10.1016/j.renene.2014.03.002. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0960148114001451 (visited on 02/20/2023).
- [6] T. L. Biel-Nielsen, T. A. Hatton, S. N. B. Villadsen, J. S. Jakobsen, J. L. Bonde, A. M. Spormann, and P. L. Fosbøl, "Electrochemistry-Based CO2 Removal Technologies," en, *ChemSusChem*, vol. 16, no. 11, e202202345, 2023, \_eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/cssc.202202345, ISSN: 1864-564X. DOI: 10.1002/cssc.202202345. [Online]. Available: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/cssc.202202345 (visited on 06/19/2023).

- [7] C. Boudreau, The world is one step closer to making a business out of vacuuming carbon dioxide from the sky, en-US, Jan. 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.businessinsider.com/carbon-dioxide-removal-air-sky-machine-climatechange-climeworks-2023-1 (visited on 01/27/2023).
- [8] C. Breyer, M. Fasihi, C. Bajamundi, and F. Creutzig, "Direct Air Capture of CO2: A Key Technology for Ambitious Climate Change Mitigation," en, *Joule*, vol. 3, no. 9, pp. 2053–2057, Sep. 2019, ISSN: 2542-4351. DOI: 10.1016/j.joule.2019.08.010.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2542435119304131 (visited on 02/27/2023).
- [9] M. van den Broek, R. Hoefnagels, E. Rubin, W. Turkenburg, and A. Faaij, "Effects of technological learning on future cost and performance of power plants with CO2 capture," en, *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 457–480, Dec. 2009, ISSN: 0360-1285. DOI: 10.1016/j.pecs.2009.05.002. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360128509000215 (visited on 06/24/2023).
- [10] E. Byers, V. Krey, E. Kriegler, et al., AR6 Scenarios Database, eng, Apr. 2022. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.5886912. [Online]. Available: https://zenodo.org/record/5886912 (visited on 07/06/2023).
- [11] California Air Resources Board, Low Carbon Fuel Standard / California Air Resources Board, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our-work/programs/low-carbon-fuel-standard/about (visited on 08/01/2023).
- [12] C. Candelise, M. Winskel, and R. J. K. Gross, "The dynamics of solar PV costs and prices as a challenge for technology forecasting," en, *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 26, pp. 96–107, Oct. 2013, ISSN: 1364-0321. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2013.05.012. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032113003158 (visited on 06/26/2023).
- [13] Carbfix, *Energy sector Carbfix*, en, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.carbfix.com/energy (visited on 07/09/2023).
- [14] Carbon Business Council, Meeting the Goals of the Paris Agreement: An Open Letter From 100+ Carbon Removal Experts, en-US, May 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.carbonbusinesscouncil.org/news/unfccc (visited on 06/14/2023).
- [15] Carbon Business Council, Defining Carbon Removal: Issue Brief, en-US. [Online]. Available: https://www.carbonbusinesscouncil.org/news/definingcdr (visited on 06/14/2023).
- [16] O. Castrejon-Campos, L. Aye, and F. K. P. Hui, "Effects of learning curve models on onshore wind and solar PV cost developments in the USA," en, *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 160, p. 112278, May 2022, ISSN: 13640321. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2022.112278. [Online]. Available:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1364032122001988 (visited on 06/19/2023).

- [17] Climeworks, Shopify joins Climeworks' carbon dioxide removal programme, en, Oct. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://climeworks.com/news/climeworks-signs-upshopify-to-its-carbon-dioxide-removal (visited on 08/01/2023).
- [18] Climeworks, Microsoft purchases Climework's carbon dioxide removal, en, Jan. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://climeworks.com/news/this-negative-emission-plan-bymicrosoft-marks-an-important (visited on 08/01/2023).
- [19] Climeworks, Journey toward net zero with Climeworks' carbon removal service, en, Jul. 2023. [Online]. Available: https://climeworks.com (visited on 08/02/2023).
- [20] U. C. Colpier and D. Cornland, "The economics of the combined cycle gas turbine—an experience curve analysis," en, *Energy Policy*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 309–316, Mar. 2002, ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/S0301-4215(01)00097-0. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421501000970 (visited on 06/27/2023).
- [21] Direct Air Capture Coalition, *The Coalition*, en-US, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://daccoalition.org/the-coalition/ (visited on 07/31/2023).
- [22] A. Elia, M. Taylor, B. Ó Gallachóir, and F. Rogan, "Wind turbine cost reduction: A detailed bottom-up analysis of innovation drivers," en, *Energy Policy*, vol. 147, p. 111 912, Dec. 2020, ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/j.enpol.2020.111912. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421520306236 (visited on 06/23/2023).
- [23] Energy Institute, *About the statistical review*, en-gb, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.energyinst.org/statistical-review/about (visited on 07/09/2023).
- [24] J. D. Farmer and F. Lafond, "How predictable is technological progress?" en, *Research Policy*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 647–665, Apr. 2016, ISSN: 0048-7333. DOI: 10.1016/j.respol.2015.11.001. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733315001699 (visited on 07/02/2023).
- [25] M. Fasihi, O. Efimova, and C. Breyer, "Techno-economic assessment of CO2 direct air capture plants," en, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 224, pp. 957–980, Jul. 2019, ISSN: 0959-6526. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.03.086. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652619307772 (visited on 06/13/2023).
- [26] S. Feng and C. L. Magee, "Technological development of key domains in electric vehicles: Improvement rates, technology trajectories and key assignees," en, Applied Energy, vol. 260, p. 114264, Feb. 2020, ISSN: 0306-2619. DOI: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.114264. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261919319518 (visited on 02/20/2023).

- [27] F. Ferioli, K. Schoots, and B. C. C. van der Zwaan, "Use and limitations of learning curves for energy technology policy: A component-learning hypothesis," en, *Energy Policy*, vol. 37, no. 7, pp. 2525–2535, Jul. 2009, ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/j.enpol.2008.10.043. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421508006101 (visited on 06/15/2023).
- [28] Frontier, An advance market commitment to accelerate carbon removal, en-US, Apr. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://frontierclimate.com/writing/launch (visited on 08/01/2023).
- [29] Frontier, Frontier carbon removal commitment tops \$1B with four new members: Autodesk, H&M Group, JPMorgan Chase, and Workday, en-US, Apr. 2023. [Online]. Available: https://frontierclimate.com/writing/new-members (visited on 08/01/2023).
- [30] S. Fujikawa and R. Selyanchyn, "Direct air capture by membranes," en, MRS Bulletin, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 416–423, Apr. 2022, ISSN: 1938-1425. DOI: 10.1557/s43577-022-00313-6. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1557/s43577-022-00313-6 (visited on 07/01/2023).
- [31] S. Fuss, W. F. Lamb, M. W. Callaghan, et al., "Negative emissions—Part 2: Costs, potentials and side effects," en, *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 13, no. 6, p. 063 002, May 2018, Publisher: IOP Publishing, ISSN: 1748-9326. DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/aabf9f. [Online]. Available: https://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aabf9f (visited on 06/19/2023).
- [32] A. Gambhir and M. Tavoni, "Direct Air Carbon Capture and Sequestration: How It Works and How It Could Contribute to Climate-Change Mitigation," English, One Earth, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 405–409, Dec. 2019, Publisher: Elsevier, ISSN: 2590-3330, 2590-3322. DOI: 10.1016/j.oneear.2019.11.006. [Online]. Available: https://www.cell.com/one-earth/abstract/S2590-3322(19)30216-7 (visited on 07/10/2023).
- [33] J. Gertner, "The Tiny Swiss Company That Thinks It Can Help Stop Climate Change," en-US, *The New York Times*, Feb. 2019, ISSN: 0362-4331. [Online]. Available: https://www.nytimes.com/2019/02/12/magazine/climeworks-businessclimate-change.html (visited on 06/13/2023).
- [34] M. A. Green, "How Did Solar Cells Get So Cheap?" en, *Joule*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 631–633, Mar. 2019, ISSN: 2542-4351. DOI: 10.1016/j.joule.2019.02.010. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S254243511930090X (visited on 06/25/2023).
- [35] A. Grubler, "The costs of the French nuclear scale-up: A case of negative learning by doing," en, *Energy Policy*, Special Section on Carbon Emissions and Carbon Management in Cities with Regular Papers, vol. 38, no. 9, pp. 5174–5188, Sep. 2010, ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/j.enpol.2010.05.003. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421510003526 (visited on 06/25/2023).

- [36] H. Herzog, "Direct Air Capture," in *Greenhouse Gas Removal Technologies*, ser. Energy and Environment 31, M. Bui and N. Mac Dowell, Eds., Royal Society of Chemistry, Aug. 2022, pp. 115–137, ISBN: 978-1-83916-524-5.
- [37] H. J. Herzog, Carbon Capture. The MIT Press, Sep. 2018, ISBN: 978-0-262-34886-7.
   DOI: 10.7551/mitpress/11423.001.0001. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/11423.001.0001 (visited on 06/08/2023).
- [38] K. Z. House, A. C. Baclig, M. Ranjan, E. A. van Nierop, J. Wilcox, and H. J. Herzog, "Economic and energetic analysis of capturing CO2 from ambient air," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 108, no. 51, pp. 20428–20433, Dec. 2011, Publisher: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1012253108. [Online]. Available: https://www.pnas.org/doi/abs/10.1073/pnas.1012253108 (visited on 08/02/2023).
- [39] K. Ibenholt, "Explaining learning curves for wind power," en, *Energy Policy*, vol. 30, no. 13, pp. 1181–1189, Oct. 2002, ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/S0301-4215(02)00014-9. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421502000149 (visited on 06/19/2023).
- [40] IEA, CO2 capture by direct air capture, planned projects and in the Net Zero Scenario, 2020-2030, en-GB, Paris, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/co2-capture-by-direct-air-captureplanned-projects-and-in-the-net-zero-scenario-2020-2030 (visited on 12/01/2022).
- [41] IEA, *Hydroelectricity Analysis*, en-GB, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/reports/hydroelectricity (visited on 06/26/2023).
- [42] IEA, *Renewable Electricity*, en-GB, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/reports/renewable-energy (visited on 06/24/2023).
- [43] IEA, "CO2 Emissions in 2022," IEA, Paris, Tech. Rep., 2023, License: CC BY 4.0.
   [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/reports/co2-emissions-in-2022.
- [44] IEA, "Energy Technology Perspectives 2023 Analysis," en-GB, IEA, Paris, Tech. Rep., 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/reports/energy-technology-perspectives-2023 (visited on 05/24/2023).
- [45] IEA, Section 45Q Credit for Carbon Oxide Sequestration Policies, en-GB, Apr. 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/policies/4986-section-45q-credit-for-carbon-oxide-sequestration (visited on 07/21/2023).
- [46] IEA, *Direct Air Capture Analysis*, en-GB. [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/reports/direct-air-capture (visited on 12/01/2022).
- [47] International Energy Agency, Direct Air Capture: A key technology for net zero, en. OECD, Apr. 2022, ISBN: 978-92-64-58587-4. DOI: 10.1787/bbd20707-en. [Online]. Available: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/energy/direct-air-capture\_bbd20707-en (visited on 07/01/2023).

- [48] International Energy Agency, *World Energy Outlook 2022*, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/data-product/world-energy-outlook-2022-free-dataset.
- [49] IPCC, "Summary for Policymakers," in Global Warming of 1.5°C: IPCC Special Report on Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5°C above Pre-industrial Levels in Context of Strengthening Response to Climate Change, Sustainable Development, and Efforts to Eradicate Poverty, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2022, pp. 1–24, ISBN: 978-1-00-915795-7. DOI: 10.1017/9781009157940.001. [Online]. Available: https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/global-warming-of-15c/summary-for-policymakers/31C38E590392F74C7341928B681FF668 (visited on 05/24/2023).
- [50] IPCC, "Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report," IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, (in press), Tech. Rep., 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/.
- [51] IPCC, O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, et al., Eds., Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Working Group III contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, en. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 2014, OCLC: ocn892580682, ISBN: 978-1-107-05821-7.
- [52] IPCC, B. Metz, O. Davidson, P. Bosch, R. Dave, and L. Meyer, Eds., Climate Change 2007: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, en. Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2007, OCLC: ocn166626221, ISBN: 978-0-521-88011-4.
- [53] IPCC, P. Shukla, J. Skea, et al., Eds., Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, en. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, Apr. 2022, doi: 10.1017/9781009157926.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/ (visited on 01/26/2023).
- [54] D. Izikowitz, J. Li, E. Wang, B. Zheng, and Y. W. Zhang, "Assessing capacity to deploy direct air capture technology at the country level an expert and information entropy comparative analysis," en, *Environmental Research Communications*, vol. 5, no. 4, p. 045 003, Apr. 2023, Publisher: IOP Publishing, ISSN: 2515-7620. DOI: 10.1088/2515-7620/acc834. [Online]. Available: https://dx.doi.org/10.1088/2515-7620/acc834 (visited on 06/15/2023).
- [55] T. Jamasb, "Technical Change Theory and Learning Curves: Patterns of Progress in Electricity Generation Technologies," English, *The Energy Journal*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 51–71, 2007, Num Pages: 21 Place: Cleveland, United States Publisher: International Association for Energy Economics, ISSN: 01956574. [Online]. Available: https://www.proquest.com/docview/222052077/abstract/D3978157805A4E85PQ/1 (visited on 06/23/2023).

- [56] T. Jamasb and J. Kohler, "Learning Curves For Energy Technology: A Critical Assessment," en, Oct. 2007, Publisher: Faculty of Economics. [Online]. Available: http://www.dspace.cam.ac.uk/handle/1810/194736 (visited on 06/25/2023).
- [57] M. Junginger, A. Faaij, and W. C. Turkenburg, "Global experience curves for wind farms," en, *Energy Policy*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 133–150, Jan. 2005, ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/S0301-4215(03)00205-2. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421503002052 (visited on 06/23/2023).
- [58] M. Junginger, A. Faaij, and W. C. Turkenburg, "Cost Reduction Prospects for Offshore Wind Farms," en, *Wind Engineering*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 97–118, Jan. 2004, ISSN: 0309-524X, 2048-402X. DOI: 10.1260/0309524041210847. [Online]. Available: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1260/0309524041210847 (visited on 06/19/2023).
- [59] S. Kahouli-Brahmi, "Technological learning in energy-environment-economy modelling: A survey," en, *Energy Policy*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 138–162, Jan. 2008, ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/j.enpol.2007.09.001. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421507003813 (visited on 06/06/2023).
- [60] G. Kavlak, J. McNerney, and J. E. Trancik, "Evaluating the causes of cost reduction in photovoltaic modules," en, *Energy Policy*, vol. 123, pp. 700–710, Dec. 2018, ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/j.enpol.2018.08.015. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421518305196 (visited on 06/07/2023).
- [61] D. W. Keith, K. Heidel, and R. Cherry, "Capturing CO2 from the atmosphere: Rationale and process design considerations," en, in *Geo-engineering climate change: environmental necessity or Pandora's box?* B. Launder and M. Thompson, Eds., OCLC: ocn460059633, Cambridge, UK ; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2010, pp. 107–126, ISBN: 978-0-521-19803-5.
- [62] D. W. Keith, G. Holmes, D. S. Angelo, and K. Heidel, "A Process for Capturing CO2 from the Atmosphere," English, *Joule*, vol. 2, no. 8, pp. 1573–1594, Aug. 2018, Publisher: Elsevier, ISSN: 2542-4785, 2542-4351. DOI: 10.1016/j.joule.2018.05.006.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.cell.com/joule/abstract/S2542-4351(18)30225-3 (visited on 06/13/2023).
- [63] K. E. Knapp, "Exploring energy technology substitution for reducing atmospheric carbon emissions," English, *The Energy Journal*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 121–143, 1999, Num Pages: 23 Place: Cleveland, United States Publisher: International Association for Energy Economics, ISSN: 01956574. [Online]. Available: https://www.proquest.com/docview/222046663/abstract/315A9591C9D140D5PQ/1 (visited on 06/19/2023).

- [64] H. Koh and C. L. Magee, "A functional approach for studying technological progress: Extension to energy technology," en, *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, vol. 75, no. 6, pp. 735–758, Jul. 2008, ISSN: 0040-1625. DOI: 10.1016/j.techfore.2007.05.007. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162507001230 (visited on 02/20/2023).
- [65] N. Kouvaritakis, A. Soria, and S. Isoard, "Modelling energy technology dynamics: Methodology for adaptive expectations models with learning by doing and learning by searching," en, *International Journal of Global Energy Issues*, vol. 14, no. 1-4, pp. 104–115, 2000.
- [66] M. Kremer, J. Levin, and C. M. Snyder, "Advance Market Commitments: Insights from Theory and Experience," en, AEA Papers and Proceedings, vol. 110, pp. 269–273, May 2020, ISSN: 2574-0768. DOI: 10.1257/pandp.20201017. [Online]. Available: https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/pandp.20201017 (visited on 08/02/2023).
- [67] K. S. Lackner and H. Azarabadi, "Buying down the Cost of Direct Air Capture," en, *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, vol. 60, no. 22, pp. 8196–8208, Jun. 2021, ISSN: 0888-5885, 1520-5045. DOI: 10.1021/acs.iecr.0c04839. [Online]. Available: https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.iecr.0c04839 (visited on 03/12/2023).
- [68] H. Leslie-Bole and K. Lebling, "What to Know About 5 Big Plans for US Carbon Removal," en, Feb. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.wri.org/insights/us-carbon-removal (visited on 12/01/2022).
- [69] T. Letcher and T. M. Letcher, Managing Global Warming: An Interface of Technology and Human Issues. San Diego, UNITED STATES: Elsevier Science & Technology, 2018, ISBN: 978-0-12-814105-2. [Online]. Available: http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/mit/detail.action?docID=5589262 (visited on 06/23/2023).
- [70] Å. Lindman and P. Söderholm, "Wind power learning rates: A conceptual review and meta-analysis," en, *Energy Economics*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 754–761, May 2012, ISSN: 0140-9883. DOI: 10.1016/j.eneco.2011.05.007. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140988311001125 (visited on 06/19/2023).
- [71] Å. Lindman and P. Söderholm, "Wind energy and green economy in Europe: Measuring policy-induced innovation using patent data," en, Applied Energy, vol. 179, pp. 1351–1359, Oct. 2016, ISSN: 0306-2619. DOI: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.10.128. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261915013689 (visited on 06/27/2023).
- J. R. Lovering, A. Yip, and T. Nordhaus, "Historical construction costs of global nuclear power reactors," en, *Energy Policy*, vol. 91, pp. 371–382, Apr. 2016, ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/j.enpol.2016.01.011. [Online]. Available:

 $https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421516300106 \ (visited \ on \ 06/25/2023).$ 

- [73] C. Lust, Occidental, 1PointFive to Begin Construction of World's Largest Direct Air Capture Plant in the Texas Permian Basin, en, Aug. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://carbonengineering.com/news-updates/construction-direct-air-capturetexas/ (visited on 08/02/2023).
- [74] S. Manhart, Understanding carbon removal policy across all 50 US States: An exclusive analysis, May 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.carbonfuture.earth/magazine/exclusive-analysis-carbon-dioxideremoval-policy-across-all-50-us-states (visited on 06/23/2023).
- [75] A. McDonald and L. Schrattenholzer, "Learning rates for energy technologies," en, Energy Policy, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 255–261, Mar. 2001, ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/S0301-4215(00)00122-1. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421500001221 (visited on 06/20/2023).
- [76] N. McQueen, K. V. Gomes, C. McCormick, K. Blumanthal, M. Pisciotta, and J. Wilcox, "A review of direct air capture (DAC): Scaling up commercial technologies and innovating for the future," en, *Progress in Energy*, vol. 3, no. 3, p. 032 001, Apr. 2021, Publisher: IOP Publishing, ISSN: 2516-1083. DOI: 10.1088/2516-1083/abf1ce. [Online]. Available: https://dx.doi.org/10.1088/2516-1083/abf1ce (visited on 01/27/2023).
- [77] J. C. Minx, W. F. Lamb, M. W. Callaghan, et al., "Negative emissions—Part 1: Research landscape and synthesis," en, *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 13, no. 6, p. 063 001, May 2018, Publisher: IOP Publishing, ISSN: 1748-9326. DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/aabf9b. [Online]. Available: https://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aabf9b (visited on 06/19/2023).
- [78] G. E. Moore, "Cramming more components onto integrated circuits, Reprinted from Electronics, volume 38, number 8, April 19, 1965, pp.114 ff.," *IEEE Solid-State Circuits Society Newsletter*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 33–35, Sep. 2006, Conference Name: IEEE Solid-State Circuits Society Newsletter, ISSN: 1098-4232. DOI: 10.1109/N-SSC.2006.4785860.
- [79] B. Nagy, J. D. Farmer, Q. M. Bui, and J. E. Trancik, "Statistical Basis for Predicting Technological Progress," en, *PLOS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 2, e52669, Feb. 2013, Publisher: Public Library of Science, ISSN: 1932-6203. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052669. [Online]. Available: https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0052669 (visited on 06/06/2023).
- [80] Negative Emissions Technologies and Reliable Sequestration: A Research Agenda. Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press, Mar. 2019, ISBN: 978-0-309-48452-7. DOI: 10.17226/25259. [Online]. Available: https://www.nap.edu/catalog/25259 (visited on 07/10/2023).

- [81] G. F. Nemet, "Beyond the learning curve: Factors influencing cost reductions in photovoltaics," en, *Energy Policy*, vol. 34, no. 17, pp. 3218–3232, Nov. 2006, ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/j.enpol.2005.06.020. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421505001795 (visited on 06/26/2023).
- [82] G. F. Nemet, *How Solar Energy Became Cheap: A Model for Low-Carbon Innovation*. Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge, 2019, ISBN: 978-0-367-13659-8.
- [83] G. F. Nemet and A. R. Brandt, "Willingness to Pay for a Climate Backstop: Liquid Fuel Producers and Direct CO2 Air Capture," English, *The Energy Journal*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 53–81, 2012, Num Pages: 29 Place: Cleveland, United States Publisher: International Association for Energy Economics, ISSN: 01956574. [Online]. Available: https://www.uneguest.com/document/016620615/chatra.ct/425D62D670EE4D07D0/1

//www.proquest.com/docview/916630615/abstract/425D63B679EE4D97PQ/1 (visited on 06/24/2023).

- [84] S. O'Neill, "Direct Air Carbon Capture Takes Baby Steps—Giant Strides Are Needed," en, *Engineering*, vol. 8, pp. 3–5, Jan. 2022, ISSN: 2095-8099. DOI: 10.1016/j.eng.2021.11.005. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2095809921005063 (visited on 06/15/2023).
- [85] R. Orbuch, Stripe's first carbon removal purchases, en-us, May 2020. [Online]. Available: https://stripe.com/blog/first-negative-emissions-purchases (visited on 02/27/2023).
- [86] E. Oud, "The evolving context for hydropower development," en, *Energy Policy*, Hydropower, Society, and the Environment in the 21st Century, vol. 30, no. 14, pp. 1215–1223, Nov. 2002, ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/S0301-4215(02)00082-4.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421502000824 (visited on 06/26/2023).
- [87] D. Pinhas, "Making Productions out of Thin Air: Accelerating Direct Air Capture Technologies," Journal of Environmental Law and Litigation, vol. 38, Apr. 2023, ISSN: 1049-0280. [Online]. Available: https://scholarsbank.uoregon.edu/xmlui/handle/1794/28219 (visited on 06/13/2023).
- [88] H. Ritchie, M. Roser, and P. Rosado, "CO2 and Greenhouse Gas Emissions," Our World in Data, May 2020. [Online]. Available: https://ourworldindata.org/co2/country/united-kingdom (visited on 07/22/2023).
- [89] E. S. Rubin, I. M. L. Azevedo, P. Jaramillo, and S. Yeh, "A review of learning rates for electricity supply technologies," en, *Energy Policy*, vol. 86, pp. 198–218, Nov. 2015, ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: 10.1016/j.enpol.2015.06.011. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421515002293 (visited on 05/10/2023).

- [90] E. S. Rubin, S. Yeh, M. Antes, M. Berkenpas, and J. Davison, "Use of experience curves to estimate the future cost of power plants with CO2 capture," en, *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 8th International Conference on Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 188–197, Apr. 2007, ISSN: 1750-5836. DOI: 10.1016/S1750-5836(07)00016-3. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1750583607000163 (visited on 06/20/2023).
- [91] D. Sahal, "A Theory of Progress Functions," A I I E Transactions, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 23–29, Mar. 1979, Publisher: Taylor & Francis \_\_eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/05695557908974396, ISSN: 0569-5554. DOI: 10.1080/05695557908974396. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1080/05695557908974396 (visited on 07/12/2023).
- [92] S. Samadi, "A Review of Factors Influencing the Cost Development of Electricity Generation Technologies," en, *Energies*, vol. 9, no. 11, p. 970, Nov. 2016, Number: 11 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, ISSN: 1996-1073. DOI: 10.3390/en9110970. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/9/11/970 (visited on 06/26/2023).
- [93] S. Samadi, "The experience curve theory and its application in the field of electricity generation technologies A literature review," en, *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 82, pp. 2346–2364, Feb. 2018, ISSN: 1364-0321. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2017.08.077. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032117312224 (visited on 06/27/2023).
- [94] H. Seo and T. A. Hatton, "Electrochemical direct air capture of CO2 using neutral red as reversible redox-active material," en, *Nature Communications*, vol. 14, no. 1, p. 313, Jan. 2023, ISSN: 2041-1723. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-023-35866-w. [Online]. Available: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-023-35866-w (visited on 06/19/2023).
- [95] M. Sharifzadeh, G. Triulzi, and C. L. Magee, "Quantification of technological progress in greenhouse gas (GHG) capture and mitigation using patent data," en, *Energy & Environmental Science*, vol. 12, no. 9, pp. 2789–2805, Sep. 2019, Publisher: The Royal Society of Chemistry, ISSN: 1754-5706. DOI: 10.1039/C9EE01526D. [Online]. Available: https://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlelanding/2019/ee/c9ee01526d (visited on 02/20/2023).
- [96] S. M. Smith, O. Geden, G. F. Nemet, et al., "The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal - 1st Edition," The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal, Tech. Rep., 2023. DOI: 10.17605/OSF.IO/W3B4Z. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.17605/OSF.IO/W3B4Z.
- [97] R. Socolow, M. Desmond, R. Aines, J. Blackstock, O. Bolland, T. Kaarsberg, N. Lewis, M. Mazzotti, A. Pfeffer, and K. Sawyer, "Direct air capture of CO2 with chemicals: A technology assessment for the APS Panel on Public Affairs," American Physical Society, Tech. Rep., 2011.

- [98] A. Sodiq, Y. Abdullatif, B. Aissa, A. Ostovar, N. Nassar, M. El-Naas, and A. Amhamed, "A review on progress made in direct air capture of CO2," en, *Environmental Technology & Innovation*, vol. 29, p. 102 991, Feb. 2023, ISSN: 2352-1864. DOI: 10.1016/j.eti.2022.102991. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S235218642200414X (visited on 06/19/2023).
- [99] B. Steffen, M. Beuse, P. Tautorat, and T. S. Schmidt, "Experience Curves for Operations and Maintenance Costs of Renewable Energy Technologies," en, *Joule*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 359–375, Feb. 2020, ISSN: 2542-4351. DOI: 10.1016/j.joule.2019.11.012. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2542435119305793 (visited on 06/25/2023).
- [100] J. E. Trancik, J. Jean, G. Kavlak, M. M. Klemun, M. R. Edwards, J. McNerney, M. Miotti, P. R. Brown, J. M. Mueller, and Z. A. Needell, "Technology Improvement and Emissions Reductions as Mutually Reinforcing Efforts: Observations from the Global Development of Solar and Wind Energy," MIT, Technical Report, Nov. 2015. [Online]. Available: https://dspace.mit.edu/handle/1721.1/102237 (visited on 06/07/2023).
- [101] U.S. DOE, Biden-Harris Administration Announces \$3.7 Billion to Kick-Start America's Carbon Dioxide Removal Industry, en, Dec. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.energy.gov/articles/biden-harris-administration-announces-37-billionkick-start-americas-carbon-dioxide (visited on 01/26/2023).
- [102] UNFCCC, Paris Agreement to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, No. 16-1104, Dec. 2015. [Online]. Available: https://unfccc.int/documents/184656.
- [103] UNFCCC, *The Paris Agreement | UNFCCC*, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement (visited on 07/19/2023).
- [104] D. Victor, F. Geels, and S. Sharpe, "Accelerating the Low Carbon Transition: The Case for Stronger, More Targeted and Coordinated International Action," UK Government Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, London, Manchester, and San Diego (California), Tech. Rep., Nov. 2019.
- [105] S. Voskian and T. A. Hatton, "Faradaic electro-swing reactive adsorption for CO 2 capture," en, *Energy & Environmental Science*, vol. 12, no. 12, pp. 3530–3547, 2019, Publisher: Royal Society of Chemistry. DOI: 10.1039/C9EE02412C. [Online]. Available: https://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlelanding/2019/ee/c9ee02412c (visited on 02/17/2023).
- T. P. WRIGHT, "Factors Affecting the Cost of Airplanes," Journal of the Aeronautical Sciences, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 122–128, 1936, Publisher: American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics \_eprint: https://doi.org/10.2514/8.155.
  DOI: 10.2514/8.155. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.2514/8.155 (visited on 07/12/2023).

- [107] Y. Yao, J.-H. Xu, and D.-Q. Sun, "Untangling global levelised cost of electricity based on multi-factor learning curve for renewable energy: Wind, solar, geothermal, hydropower and bioenergy," en, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 285, p. 124827, Feb. 2021, ISSN: 09596526. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.124827. [Online]. Available: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S095965262034871X (visited on 06/26/2023).
- [108] S. Yeh and E. S. Rubin, "A review of uncertainties in technology experience curves," en, *Energy Economics*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 762–771, May 2012, ISSN: 0140-9883. DOI: 10.1016/j.eneco.2011.11.006. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140988311002805 (visited on 06/15/2023).
- [109] L. E. Yelle, "The Learning Curve: Historical Review and Comprehensive Survey," en, *Decision Sciences*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 302–328, 1979, \_eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1540-5915.1979.tb00026.x, ISSN: 1540-5915. DOI: 10.1111/j.1540-5915.1979.tb00026.x. [Online]. Available: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1540-5915.1979.tb00026.x (visited on 06/15/2023).